Changing the Combination of Authoritarian Stability Strategies Against Threats: Turkey (2002-2019)

By Ecem Lara Çamur

Submitted to

Central European University

Department of Political Science

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

Supervisor: Professor Inna Melnykovska

Budapest, Hungary

(2020)

Abstract

The empirical research suggests that authoritarian stability strategies of legitimation, cooptation, and repression strengthen regimes in combination. Existing studies treat these strategies mostly as independent variables, looking at their effect on political survival. Consequently, there is a research gap on the motivations and political conflict behind why these regimes follow different combinations of strategies over time. Deriving from this gap, the thesis tries to answer the following questions: Why do some hybrid regimes change the combination of stability strategies? Why is there a change through the introduction of a strategy towards a new combination? The thesis argues that the threats coming from the masses (vertical threats), the ruling elite, and opposition parties (horizontal threats) affect the survival strategies of hybrid regimes differently.

Turkey, as a hybrid regime, is analyzed between 2002-2019 throughout three periods. The findings of the analysis are the following. 1) The combination of the stability strategies is subject to change when the incumbent is challenged by the new horizontal and/or vertical threats. 2) The horizontal threat by the ruling elites leads to the introduction of hard repression and diffuse legitimation strategy towards the ruling elite and the opposition. 3) The horizontal threat by the united opposition leads to the introduction of formal co-optation strategy towards the opposition parties. 4) The vertical threat by the citizens leads to the introduction of diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategy towards the opposition. Overall the thesis shows that vertical and horizontal threats change the way hybrid regimes try to stabilize their rule. In this sense, the thesis suggests scholars and policymakers focus on the dynamic and adaptive nature of the grey zone regimes.

Table of Contents

Abstracti
Introduction
Chapter 1. Literature Review and Theoretical Framework
1.1 Legitimation
1.2 Repression7
1.3 Co-optation
1.4 Strategies in Combination10
Chapter 2. Research Design
2.1 Conceptualization and Measurement of the Variables
2.2 Hypotheses
2.3 Independent Variables
2.4 Case Selection: Why Turkey?
2.5 Methodology
2.6 The Method and the Sources of the Data Collection
Chapter 3. Empirical Analysis
3.1 The First Period: Softer Strategies Without Threat (2002-2006)23
3.2 The Second Period: Towards Diffuse Legitimation and Hard Repression (2007-2012)30
3.3 The Third Period: Introducing Formal Co-optation, Intensifying Diffuse Legitimation and Hard Repression (2013-2019)
BIBLIOGRAPHY

List of Tables and Figures

2.5 Table 1. Methodology	21
2.5 Table 2. Periods, Threats, and Change in the Combination	22
3.4 Figure 1. Findings	51

Introduction

Why do some hybrid regimes change the combination of stability strategies? Why is there a change per se? Why is there a change through the introduction of a strategy towards a new combination? According to the literature, legitimation, co-optation, and repression are the main pillars¹ of stability in authoritarian and hybrid regimes (Gerschewski 2013). While the legitimation, co-optation, and repression strategies have recently become the object of several studies in political science, the researchers usually treat them as independent variables and concentrate on the effects of those strategies on regime stability (Gerschewski 2013, Schneider and Maerz 2017, Lueders and Croissant 2014, Maerz 2020). Although these studies do not entirely exclude the possibility of change, their main focus is based on the stable combinations itself. However, their dependent variable is regime stability, not the combinations. Focusing on the stable combination of the strategies itself fails to explain the reason, need, and mechanism of the change in the combination.

This study takes the combination of the three strategies as a dependent variable and focuses on its variance due to threats. The proposed independent variables that trigger a change in the combination are horizontal threat by the ruling elite, the horizontal threat by the opposition parties, and vertical threat by the citizens. The study shows that hybrid regimes and their authoritarian strategies are dynamic, and the strategy itself and the target of the strategy varies according to the type of threat. This study's novelty comes from its emphasis on the political contestation between the regime and regime challengers, determining the combination of authoritarian survival strategies. In this sense, it goes beyond exogenous explanations of

^{1.} This study focuses on Gerschewski (2013)'s framework on the three pillars of stability (legitimation, repression, co-optation). Since these are dynamic functions of the authoritarian incumbent and reactive to the challenges, this study uses the word "strategy" instead of "pillar."Therefore, the author uses the term pillar except when she refers to the studies that explicitly use the term "pillar."

authoritarian survival strategies, emphasizing the role of party organization, resource rents, and state apparatus (Levitsky and Way 2010).

To understand the change in the combination of the stability strategies, this study follows Schedler's (2013) theoretical framework on uncertainty, horizontal and vertical threats in electoral authoritarian (EA) regimes. Schedler (2013, 1) argues that authoritarian regimes are vulnerable to institutional and informational uncertainties. The institutional uncertainty implies that holding power is always insecure due to elections, while informational uncertainty means that the authoritarian regimes never know the level of "how secure they are" (Ibid). Regime threats are possible causes of a breakdown and instability of the regime (Ibid). Since the threats increase the regime's vulnerability for the elections and the institutions, the regime's stability strategies also react to these threats. Thus, the study argues that horizontal and/or vertical threats trigger the change in the combination of stability strategies.

In support of the argument, this study analyzes Turkey's hybrid regime under the Justice and Development Party (AKP) as a longitudinal case study (2002-2019). It divides the AKP rule intro three periods and shows that the combination of the regime survival strategies changed twice, both due to vertical/horizontal challenges. Turkey is a most-likely case for confirming the hypothesis related to change in combining strategies triggered by vertical and horizontal threats. Throughout the periods, Turkey has permissive conditions such as missing international and domestic constraints to rely on challenge thwarting strategies. Also, Turkey experienced several threats as a hybrid regime, allowing it to test the threats on the combination of the stability strategies. As a spatial unit of analysis, Turkey has the conditions in three periods to explain the research questions of the study: Why do some hybrid regimes change the combination of stability strategies? Why is there a change per se? Why is there a change through the introduction of a strategy towards a new combination? This study's findings suggest that incumbents respond to the regime challenging threats by introducing new survival strategies. The thesis finds that incumbents respond to the horizontal threat from the ruling elite by introducing hard repression and diffuse(ideological) legitimation strategy towards the elite and the opposition. Furthermore, the study finds that incumbents in hybrid regimes respond to the horizontal threat from the united opposition by introducing formal co-optation strategy towards the opposition parties. Lastly, the study finds partial evidence that mass demonstrations (vertical threats) lead incumbents to engage in hard repression and diffuse legitimation towards citizens and opposition.

The study aims to make two theoretical and two policy contributions. Theoretically, it tries to show that 1) When regime challenging threats fail to achieve regime change, the incumbents are likely to innovate new strategies and combine them with existing stability strategies. **2**) Every regime challenging threat does not trigger the change in the behavior of incumbents in the same way. Therefore, the findings suggest that scholars should pay more attention to the challenger actors when analyzing the sources of hybrid regimes' survival behavior. In terms of policy implications, the findings suggest the following. **1**) Domestic opposition in hybrid regimes should avoid extra-institutional and illiberal practices to overthrow the government and challenge the regime in electoral-legal grounds, given that the former might trigger consolidation. **2**) External democracy promoters should focus on decreasing the cost of mobilization for regime challengers since failed threats are likely to trigger diversification of authoritarian survival strategies, end up leading to repression and stigmatization of the challengers. The latter could be materialized through direct involvement of Western-led NGO's, without bridging the domestic laws.

The study's structure is the following: The first chapter discusses the relevant literature on authoritarian survival strategies, points out the weaknesses in the existing debates, and explains the puzzle. The second chapter explains the research design, including definition, operationalization of variables, and hypotheses formulation. It also explains the case selection and methodology. The third chapter analyses the Turkish case empirically. Lastly, the thesis discusses the findings, contributions, and limitations of the study.

Chapter 1. Literature Review and Theoretical Framework

This study aims to analyze the change in the combinations of Gerschewski's (2013) pillars of stability: legitimation, repression, co-optation. The following theoretical framework discusses the main empirical studies and causal claims based on authoritarian stability strategies. Firstly, the literature based on the strategies' individual explanations as the independent and dependent variables will be presented. Secondly, studies focusing on the strategies in combination and their claims will be provided. Thirdly, the main contribution of this study will be indicated.

1.1 Legitimation

Legitimation -defined as support gaining process- is one of the strategies that autocrats rely on to prolong their power (Gerschewski 2018, 18). Using sole repression might work for the short-run, but in the long-run, autocrats have to bear legitimation to frame that "they deserve power" (Dukalskis and Gerschewski 2017, 1). Contemporary literature demonstrates how legitimation matters in autocratic regimes to maintain stability (von Soest and Grauvogel 2017, Gerschewski 2013, Dukalskis and Gerschewski 2017). The literature also suggests that since each type of autocratic regime has a different institutional structure, to sustain its rule, they rely on different legitimation mechanisms, behaviors, and claims (Ibid). Gerschewski (2013) and Easton (1965) distinguishes legitimation into two subtypes: specific and diffuse legitimation. von Soest and Grauvogel (2017, 290) define six legitimacy claims and group them as identity-based legitimacy claims: foundational myth, ideology, personalism, and performance-based claims: procedures, performance, and international engagement, in which legitimation strategy types and/or their degrees vary over subtypes of authoritarian regimes.

Since the literature establishes that authoritarian legitimation matters for autocratic survival, studies also consider legitimation as the dependent variable. A pile of studies analyzes

the motivations behind why autocrats engage in different levels and types of legitimation strategies. Accordingly, large-scale threats such as mass demonstration and the horizontal threat from the ruling circle are likely to increase the diversity and intensity of autocrats' legitimation claims (Dukalskis and Patane 2019; Feldmann and Mazepus 2018). For instance, anti-regime mass demonstrations require autocrats' intense communication with the citizens to display the regime's strength (Dukalskis and Patane 2019, 458). These communicative efforts include showing not only regimes' ability to provide stability to the country but also frame mass demonstrations as materialized by traitors to destabilize the country (Edel and Josua 2018, 884; Dorman 2006, 1092). Furthermore, when authoritarian regimes repress mass demonstrations, they are likely to present the dissidence as a security issue to justify their brutal action through both specific and diffuse legitimation, emphasizing both the immorality and order breaking nature of challengers (Edel and Josua 2018 883; Dukalskis 2017). On the other hand, threats coming from the ruling circle intensify the need for diffuse legitimation as it requires reconstructing, we/they distinction to discredit the regime insiders who become challengers (Selvik 2018). Both types of system challenging threats also increase the diversity of legitimation strategies autocrats follow - including diffuse and specific variants, to convince different addressees in the population not to join the anti-regime movements (Josua 2017). In this sense, both authoritarian and hybrid regimes claim that legitimacy has a dynamic nature, increasing and diversifying when the rule is under threat (Mazepus et al. 2016). This dynamism includes prior legitimation as in the case of development of an anti-democratic "sovereign" ideology in Russia during color revolutions in neighboring countries (Finkel and Brudny 2012) and ex-post delegitimation of regime challenging threats as in the case Tiananmen Square events in China (Dukalskis and Patane 2019, 470-474). Overall, the literature suggests that political challenges that threaten the institutional equilibrium are likely to impact the nature of autocratic legitimation. While this study acknowledges existing perspectives and contextualizes them in hybrid regimes, it tries go further by specifying which type of threat triggers incumbents to engage in diffuse and/or specific legitimation. The study tries to show which regime challenging actors are more (less) likely to effect regimes claims to legitimacy and how does the mechanism of legitimation change work in hybrid regimes.

1.2 Repression

Although repression is more likely to be mentioned as an inseparable function of autocracies to maintain power, the sole usage of repression is not sustainable due to its high cost (Davenport 2007, Gerschewski 2013, Josua and Edel 2015). There are several explanations on why autocrats rely on repression such as the irresponsive government that is lack of mechanisms to address the demands of the citizens (Escribà-Folch 2013), or the government that does not have alternative mechanisms to affect its population but repression (Linz 2000, Davenport 2007, Geddes 1999). The usage of repression is based on a calculation that the benefits of the coercive action should be more than its cost (Davenport 2007). When autocrats are left to use repression, the benefits they expect from this are the continuation of their power (Escribà-Folch 2013). They use coercive measures to overcome threats coming from the citizens, opposition groups, and rivals (Ibid 546). Another explanation for explaining repression suggests regime type is the determinant of repression. While some scholars argue that there is a negative relationship between democracy and repression (Escribà-Folch 2013 445, Davenport 2004), some scholars emphasize that "there is an inverted U relationship" (Escribà-Folch 2013 445; Regan and Henderson 2002 in Davenport 2007, 488). Studies focusing on types of repression argue that different types of repression might vary according to the threat type among different types of authoritarian regimes (Josua and Edel 2015, Escribà-Folch 2013, Davenport 2007). Levitsky and Way (2010), and Way and Levitsky (2006) elaborate on the dynamics of autocratic coercion after Cold War and distinguish between high intensity and low-intensity coercion while Gerschewski (2013) makes a distinction between hard repression and soft repression. Instead of the regime type, this study focuses on the type of threats – horizontal and vertical- and their effect on the combination of the strategies via the introduction of the hard repression strategy.

1.3 Co-optation

Co-optation is a strategy that keeps the strategic actors, such as the military or business elite, together with the ruling elite (Gerschewski 2013, 22). Schmotz (2015) defines co-optation as a function to cover the regime's vulnerability via institutional inclusion of certain pressure groups as well as benefiting them materially. As a mechanism providing stability for the regime, some scholars focus on co-optation strategy by looking at the formal political institutions such as elections, political parties and parliament (Gandhi and Przeworski 2007, Gandhi and Lust-Okar 2009). Accordingly, formal co-optation enables authoritarian regimes to bind politically relevant groups to the ruling party via parliamentary representation and domesticates the opposition by pushing their dissent activity into the formal/legal sphere (Gandhi and Przeworski 2007). On the other hand, there are also informal versions of which might be achieved through clientelism and patronage (Gerschewski 2013). While the boundaries of informal co-optation are typically shaped by formal institutions (Hale 2011, Zavadskaya et al. 2017), they help authoritarian regimes to consolidate their power vis a vis the uncertainties rising from the pluralism of formal institutions (Isaacs 2010) and enhance effective governance without compromising selective rewards (Jiang 2018). Overall, the co-optation of economic and political is a necessary condition for authoritarian consolidation and survival.

When it comes to the sources of formal and informal co-optation strategies, the scholars appear to highlight the role of political institutions in accommodating and dominating the interest of the elite (Svolik 2012). Consequently, they focus on cross-case snapshots, unlike studies on repression and legitimation, which take political change and threats into account. For

instance, empirical studies show that the co-optation of political and economic elite is more (less) costly for different authoritarian and hybrid regime types. Accordingly, personalist regimes where the incumbent minimizes the members of winning coalition with personal ties are more successful in co-opting the economic elite through corruption (Chang and Golden 2010) and neutralizing the change seeking behavior within the ruling circle (Stacher 2007, 179-180). Hybrid regimes have the highest level of informal co-optation through external rents, given the coexistence of formal democratic institutions with the necessity to design informal institutions of authoritarian politics (Montinola and Jackman 2002). It is also suggested that the older and more dominants the incumbent party in electoral autocracies, the less likely they will engage in formal co-optation with other political parties given the established norms of governance (Gandhi and Reuter 2013, 149-152). Nonetheless, no matter how dominant the party electorally is, when co-opted elites within the party perceive that the party is experiencing electoral vulnerability, they are likely to defect (Reuter and Szakonyi 2019). Overall, the literature that takes co-optation as a dependent variable mainly looks at the level of dominance of party and regime defining institutions in the electoral and social arena, which identifies the regimes' need and capacity to co-opt relevant groups.

Nevertheless, like other pillars of authoritarian stability, co-optation's selfreinforcement is subject to the availability of material sources and equilibrium of power dynamic between the incumbent and opposition (Gerschewski 2013, 24). Thus, like repression and legitimation, which tend to increase with threatening regime challenges (Edel and Josua 2018), co-optation is likely to be subject to a change when opposition parties and interest groups intensify their struggle against the regime (Schedler 2013, 302).

1.4 Strategies in Combination

Although empirical studies analyze the roots and impact of stability strategies of legitimation, co-optation, and repression separately, studies which take survival or electoral victory of the incumbent in authoritarian regimes as a dependent variable find that these pillars provide stability for authoritarian and hybrid regimes only in conjunctural configurations (Schneider and Maerz 2017, 230). Thus, legitimation, co-optation, and repression explain authoritarian stability only when these strategies coexist to complement and enhance each other. For example, empirical studies find that "adaptive" authoritarian regimes avoid using "hard" physical repression of dissidents by combining intense material and non-material legitimation, co-optation of potential challengers, and violation of civil liberties, yet still survive (Maerz 2020, 81-82). Therefore, authoritarian regimes survive by following strategies that strengthen each other such as by justification of hard repression through diffuse legitimation (Edel and Josua 2018) and replace each other such as providing stability through economic elite (citizen) support at times, when sources citizen (elite) support is low (Shubladze and Khundadze 2017, 316). In this sense, when analyzing domestic sources of authoritarian survival either as a cause or outcome, three pillars should be analyzed in combination. To put it differently, external factors that affect one strategy is likely to impact other authoritarian stability strategies as well, given that these strategies (de)stabilize together (Ibid.).

Nonetheless, existing research does not take these strategies as the dependent variable and consequently neglect the motivations to follow a different combination of strategies. The existing research highlights that having highly dominant institutions like cohesive and widespread incumbent parties (Levitsky and Way 2010, 66), natural resources such as oil that enhances rentierism (Ross 2001) or incumbents' control of an ideological-repressive state apparatus (March 2003), strengthens the authoritarian combination. Furthermore, studies across various authoritarian regime types suggest that authoritarian regimes attempt to expand their manipulation strategies and coercive structures due to fear of diffusion of external threats as in the case for Arab Spring and color revolutions in China and Russia (Koesel and Bunce 2013).

In particular, Bayulgen et al. (2018) analyze Turkey's case between 2013-2017 and emphasize the change in repression and legitimation, conceptualizing differently. They detail a different combination that excludes the co-optation strategy in their analysis, focusing on legitimation, repression, and centralization strategies and their changing characteristics throughout time. Although they are also interested in change towards challenges, they underestimate the co-optation strategy, replacing it with centralization. Besides, although they mention that threats lead to changes in the strategies, they do not specify what kind of threat leads to what kind of strategy. It is this gap that the study aims to fulfill and provide new hypothesis for the relationship between threats and regime's combination of survival strategies.

The novelty of the study is the following. Firstly, existing empirical research concerns less how domestic, horizontal, and vertical threats force hybrid or authoritarian regimes to change the combination. Although archival research suggests that even the coercive 20thcentury communist regimes framed public unrest to reassure the elite unity and public support (Bray et al. 2019), there is a gap in the relationship between threats to the rule and its effects on authoritarian survival strategies, especially in qualitative studies. Secondly, since the literature's focus as the dependent variable is the stability of the autocratic regime, change in the combinations from one to another has not been the main focus. This study elaborates on a different causality that is between the threats and their effect on the combination of stability strategies. This study's main contribution will be to take stability strategies as a dependent variable instead of an independent variable. Also, using the longitudinal analysis and method of difference, the study tries to demonstrate the relationships between the stability strategies and different reactions towards challenges, neglected by the previous studies. Thirdly, this study also explains why and how even some of the stable combinations might vary. Gerschewski (2013) argues that the combination of high specific support, high soft repression, and informal co-optation is one of the stable combinations that the autocracies rely on. However, the Turkish case between 2002-2006 has the same combination, which was subject to change when first threats came. Therefore, even stable combinations proposed by the literature are subject to change when it comes to horizontal and vertical threats the incumbent has to deal with.

What is puzzling in this study is that **1**) It presents a different causality by taking stability strategies as the dependent variable, **2**) It provides a longitudinal case study with the method of difference between three periods in Turkey. Therefore, the causal mechanism of the change through the introduction of a new strategy will be better understood.

Chapter 2. Research Design

2.1 Conceptualization and Measurement of the Variables

The dependent variable in this study is the combination of stability strategies. There are six strategies in total that are the possible components of the combination of strategies; specific legitimation, diffuse legitimation, soft repression, hard repression, informal co-optation, and formal co-optation. Since the dependent variable is the combination of stability strategies that vary in three periods with two changes in this study, it is essential to give the details of the specific concepts in the combination itself.

"Legitimacy is a relational concept between the ruler and the ruled in which the ruled sees the entitlement claims of the ruler as being justified and follows them based on a perceived obligation to obey." (Gerschewski 2018, 655) Operationalization and the measurement legitimation in authoritarian regimes are complex issues that several studies discussed how to measure and operationalize it (von Haldenwang 2016, 28; Gerschewski 2013; von Soest and Grauvogel 2017; Mazepus et al. 2016; Gerschewski 2018; Morgenbesser 2015; Kailitz 2013). This study relies on Gerschewski's (2013) conceptualization on diffuse and specific legitimation and follows his measurement suggestions. Following Gerschewski (2013), specific legitimation is about the regime's performance and refers to answering the demands of the people. Diffuse legitimation strategy is about the regime's actual representation by the incumbent, seeking long-term legitimation of the authoritarian rule through non-material sources such as ideology and leader's personal charisma (Ibid, 20).

Following Gerschewski (2013), social assistance, IMF, and WB data on real GDP growth and inflation rate, economic growth, and performance-based projects of the government are the indicators of the specific legitimation in this study. Also, this study relies on secondary sources on the economic development of the AKP government. In addition to Gerschewski's suggestion, I also rely on performance-based projects done and advertised by the government.

These might be used by the government to rely on specific legitimation, even though the economic performance is not well, but the government still needs to legitimize its rule through performance (Kneuer 2017).

Diffuse legitimization is operationalized by looking at the discourse/speeches of the incumbent leader, and his ideological reliance (whether nationalist, populist, or İslamist), and charismatic leadership/personality. To be able to measure it, this study relies on secondary sources on the discourse of Erdoğan, and concrete measurements such as Global Populism Database.

According to Gerschewski (2013, 22), co-optation refers to the incumbent's ability to bind actors who are strategically useful to the regime's elites. Selznick (1949, 13) defines cooptation as the process of introducing new elements/actors into the organization's leader or policymaking structure as a function of preventing threats to stability or presence of the rule. This study combines these two definitions and redefines. Co-optation is a strategy to bind strategic actors to the regime elite, aiming that the incumbent's rule should be protected against the threats that might lead to instability of the regime (Gerschewski 2013, 22; Selznick 2949, 13). Co-optation with informal ways is possible through patronage and clientelism (Gerschewski 2013). Gerschewski (2013) suggests patronage and clientelism as indicators of informal co-optation. Appointment of the pro-government individuals to the state institutions (business elite, religious organization members) in exchange for support, clientelist relations with the business elite, systematic irregularities in public procurements are the indicators of informal co-optation. Since it is hard to find evidence for concrete measurement in autocracies regarding patronage and clientelism, this study relies on secondary sources and investigative journalism to be able to trace informal co-optation. Gandhi and Przeworski (2006, 21) demonstrate that democratic institutions such as elections, legislation, and political parties are the means for dictatorships to mobilize cooperation and prevent the regime from encountering the threat of rebellion. As Gerschewski (2013, 22) mentions, Gandhi and Przeworski's (2006) argument about democratic institutions in dictatorships or authoritarian electoral regimes is based on formal channels co-optation. Therefore, in this study, formal ways of cooperating with the opposition are measured as formal co-optation strategies. Formal co-optation is operationalized by looking at the electoral coalitions between the incumbent and political parties in which whether the incumbent changes its strategy in the times of elections, either making coalitions or running alone.

Gerschewski (2013) suggests that the distinction between low-intensity coercion and high-intensity coercion (Levitsky and Way 2010) corresponds to the distinction between soft and hard repression. Therefore, this study takes the definition of low and high-intensity coercion to measure soft and hard repression strategies. While soft repression is operationalized through looking at violations of civil rights and liberties, hard repression is operationalized by looking at violent, coercive acts by the government towards mass protests, imprisonment of well-known individuals (Levitsky and Way 2010), political right violations through law and practice, replacement of the democratically elected politicians and/or imprisonment of them. Presence of at least one of them considered as the presence of hard repression Sources of the data are the secondary resources on human rights violations in Turkey, political imprisonment, and violent repression during the mass protests, CPJ (Committee to Protect Journalists: a nonprofit, nongovernmental organization).

2.2 Hypotheses

The dependent variable's variance will be tested in Turkey's three periods under the Erdoğan rule (2002-2019). Given the condition that the incumbent has already relied on specific

CEU eTD Collection

legitimation, informal co-optation, and soft repression strategy, this study tests the hypotheses formulated below.

This study argues that the vulnerability of any combination of the stability strategies comes from the uncertainty that competitive authoritarian (CA) regimes are subject to (Schedler 2013). The rulers of the authoritarian regimes "can never relax," in which the incumbent always shapes the uncertainty level in reaction to the challenges (Ibid, 21). Therefore, authoritarian rulers take "adaptive responses" (Ibid). This study argues that the adaptive responses are the changes in the combination of stability strategies. Schedler (2013) argues that "competitive regimes are in disequilibrium," and they have threatening uncertainties related to incumbents' electoral strength, in which the incumbent tries to minimize these uncertainties (Schedler 2013, 213). Following Schedler (2013), the study argues that in hybrid regimes, the combinations of the stability strategies are also in disequilibrium due to the uncertainty that comes from the regime's competitiveness. Therefore, I hypothesize that H1) The combination of the stability strategies are subject to change when the incumbent is challenged by the new horizontal and/or vertical threats. While the theoretical background lies in the uncertainty concept of Schedler (2013), the actors (the incumbent) are considered rational actors that are aware of the challenge of uncertainty. Here, the independent variable is any horizontal or vertical threat, which leads to change in the combination through the introduction of new strategies. The independent variable is measured whether there is a horizontal or vertical threat.

Schedler (2013) argues that the uncertainty of the ruling elite also means the uncertainty of regime survival. "Most of the time, the most serious challenge to dictators' survival in office comes from high-level allies, not from regime opponents" (Geddes 2004, 6 in Schedler 2013, 35). To contain the ruling elite incoherency, hard and soft repression is the reaction against the horizontal threats that come from the ruling elite. Horizontal threats coming from ruling elites

imply that the regime fails to co-opt some of the critical actors, and these actors have autonomous power. Thus, the regime has no option but the repress to avoid alternative power forces for the regime's stability. If the hard repression strategy has never used before the horizontal threats are visible, a change in the combination of stability strategies through the introduction of the hard repression strategy might increase the chance of regime survival. Therefore, I hypothesize that **H2**) The horizontal threat by the ruling elites leads to the introduction of hard repression and diffuse legitimation strategy towards the ruling elite and the opposition.

Electoral competition and the presence of opposition parties are the major components of EA regimes; this mechanism keeping the regime's threat should also be contained by the ruling elite (Wilson 2016). Therefore, the incumbent favors manipulating and controlling the competition (Levitsky and Way 2010, Schedler 2002). Considering competitive elections, competitive authoritarian regimes are more likely to democratize through elections than hegemonic authoritarian regimes (Donno 2013). In CA regimes, the incumbent's chance to manipulate the elections can be balanced when the opposition is united and external powers threaten the incumbent when they break the electoral norms (Ibid, 714). It is legitimate to argue that a divided opposition contains less threat to the regime than the united opposition against the regime. I hypothesize that **H3**) The horizontal threat by the united opposition leads to the introduction of formal co-optation strategy towards the opposition parties. When a horizontal threat comes from a united opposition, the incumbent relies on the formal co-optation strategy that decreases the uncertainty over the election and increases the chance of electoral victory.

One of the main motivators for mass protest is lack of legitimacy (Thyen and Gerschewski 2018). I hypothesize that when there is a vertical threat challenging the incumbent through mass mobilization, the incumbents need legitimation claims to minimize the

uncertainty that the threat will or about to create. **H4**) The vertical threat by the citizens leads to the introduction of diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategy towards the opposition and citizens. Therefore, in the case of mass protest, the incumbent relies on diffuse legitimation strategy using ideology to convince large segments of society against the protesters who voiced their dissatisfaction through political mobilization. When the incumbent implies hard repression strategy or increases the amount of it, the incumbent still needs diffuse legitimation strategy to justify the repression that it relied on. Since the threat is vertical, coming from the citizens, there is a need for convincing the citizens who are the ones who will vote as well as the basis of electoral uncertainty.

Dukalskis and Patane (2019) argue that autocratic regimes bear legitimation strategies when confronted with massive systemic challenges from the citizens. Until a massive movement threatens the regime, the incumbents remain silent in terms of repression, and when they apply repression, they also try to justify it through censorship (corresponds to soft repression) and concealment (Ibid, 475). The incumbent also needs to justify the repression of protesters. March (2003, 229) argues that authoritarian regimes justify the use of repression by defining the state as a matter of common goal and defining the goals and aspirations of the nation's founders. Thus, vertical threats increase the need for diversifying and intensifying legitimation strategies. Mainly, substantial threats coming from below requires authoritarian regimes to demonstrate that they are legitimate rulers. They need to diversify their strategies both to sustain its support and justify the repressive action they take against challengers.

2.3 Independent Variables

Independent variables of this study are a vertical threat by the citizens, horizontal threat by the ruling elite, and horizontal threat by the united opposition parties. To be able to count any action as a threat to the government, this study takes the horizontal and vertical actors' actions that are explicitly pointing to the ruling party's course of action. The indicators of the threats are the following:

The indicators of the horizontal threats by the ruling elite -the judiciary and military (Schedler 2013)- are party closure case, coup attempt, direct statements against the incumbent's acts, and judicial actions towards government by the judges.

The indicators of horizontal threat coming from opposition parties are the presence of uniting/united opposition parties through electoral coalition, strategic voting of the opposition parties' electorate against the ruling party, newly establishing or established cooperation between opposition parties

Vertical threat refers to threats coming from the citizens through mass social movements (Dukalskis and Patane 2019).

2.4 Case Selection: Why Turkey?

This study takes Turkey as a most-likely case. The most-likely case is the case with a high probability of approving the proposed hypotheses and arguments through analysis (Rohlfing 2012, 84). Turkey, as a most-likely case for change in the combination of strategies against threats, has permissive conditions such as lack of international and domestic pressure to allow threats to impact the incumbent's stability strategies, which allows confirming proposed hypotheses in all the three periods. For example, when the threats directing to the incumbent came in the second period, some international and domestic factors had catalyzed the government's way to change the strategies. On the one hand, relations with the EU helped the incumbent to eliminate the military tutelage by requiring demilitarization of the institutions. When institutional restrictions imposed by the military tutelage for the government were reduced, these conditions opened the way for a change in combination strategies against the threats. On the other hand, as the relations with the EU started to decrease, the area where the

government would use its strategies against the threats has widened with the absence of anyone to control repression.

In the absence of institutional constraints by the EU and the military tutelage, the government could have a favorable context to thwart challenges through certain strategies. Turkey has experienced change-generative factors such as vertical and horizontal threats with favorable conditions, which triggered changes in the strategies. This study is interested in the effects of threats in the combination of stability strategies and choosing a particular strategy to overcome the specific threat. The hybrid regime's relative competitiveness in three periods, also led to the incumbent's calculations regarding elections when it decided to use one of the strategies against threats.

2.5 Methodology

This study is a longitudinal comparative case study that uses Mill's (1874) method of difference. An ideal method of difference requires at least two similar comparable "cases that differ only on the outcome and a single cause." (Rohlfing 2012, 97-98). A longitudinal comparative case study of Turkey represents an imperfect one due to the two causes and two changes in the second period (see Table 1).

Table 1. Methodology

Method of Difference

Collection	
eTD	
CEU	

Periods	Horizontal threat	Vertical threat by	Horizontal threat by	New strategy to the
	by the ruling elite	the citizens	the united opposition	combination
Threats				
2002-2006	Х	Х	Х	no change
2007-2012	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	diffuse legitimation,
				and hard
				repression
2013-2019	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	formal co-optation

Given Turkey's situation, vertical and horizontal threats shifted the combination by adding new strategies (see Table 2.). Informal co-optation, specific legitimation, soft repression are the strategies that the Turkish incumbent relied on in the period between 2002-2006 when there is no direct challenge towards the incumbent. When it came across challenges, in the period between 2007 and 2012, the new combination of strategies became informal co-optation, specific legitimation, diffuse legitimation, soft repression, and hard repression. Additional vertical and horizontal threats lead to the third combination of strategies by adding formal co-optation in the period between 2013 and 2019: these are informal co-optation, formal co-optation specific legitimation, diffuse legitimation, soft repression, and hard repression. In the last period, the incumbent was required all the strategies to thwart challenges to keep its power.

	Thursda	
Years	Threats	Combination of Strategies
2002-2006	No direct threat against the incumbent	Specific legitimation, informal co-optation, soft
		repression
		1
2007-2012	Horizontal threat by the ruling elite,	Specific legitimation, diffuse legitimation, informal
2007 2012	Tionzontal aneat by the funng ente,	specific regitilitation, unfuse regitilitation, informati
	vertical threat by the citizens.	co-optation, hard repression, soft repression
	vertical uncat by the citizens.	co-optation, nary repression, soft repression
2013-2019	Horizontal threat by the miling ality	Encific legitimation diffuse legitimation formal as
2013-2019	Horizontal threat by the ruling elite,	Specific legitimation, diffuse legitimation, formal co-
	horizontal threat by the united opposition,	optation, informal co-optation, hard repression, soft
-	vertical threat by the citizens.	repression

 Table 2. Periods, Threats, and Change in the Combinations

CEU eTD Collection

Each time frame after 2006 represented the time of the new threats that lead to changes in the combination of strategies. Firstly, in 2002 the AKP government came to power. Secondly, in 2007, the incumbent experienced first horizontal threat by the ruling elite and the following vertical threat by the citizens. Thirdly, in 2013, the new vertical threat by the citizens affected the incumbent's reactions, such as increasing diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategy. Also, the united opposition led to the formal co-optation strategy.

2.6 The Method and the Sources of the Data Collection

Since the binary measurement is advantageous in qualitative studies in terms of reducing the property space (Rohlfing 2012, 20), the measured change in the combination strategies is not based on the level of strategy (low-medium-high), but the introduction of the new strategybinary. Although certain increases and/or decreases in certain strategies are mentioned in the study, the main focus is the introduction of a new strategy.

For each independent variable and the dependent variable, this study also relies on secondary sources, newspaper articles, and the Freedom House's country reports on Turkey as qualitative data. Secondary resources are from the journals that have peer review. Also, the IMF, WB, CPJ, Global Populism Dataset are well-known data sources that political science scholars frequently rely on. The online newspaper articles that this study uses are mostly independent newspapers such as Aljazeera, DW, T24, Birgün, Evrensel. Mainstream progovernment newspapers are also used to reach Erdoğan's statements, mention a specific event, or evaluate the government's reaction: Milliyet, Hürriyet, Sabah, CNNTürk. For the informal co-optation strategy, the data sources are also based on investigative journalism. The claim of an increase in the systematic corruption of the public procurement process was checked by Transparency International's corruption indexes. Although Transparency International does not directly approve the claim, it shows the trustworthiness of the claim.

Chapter 3. Empirical Analysis

3.1 The First Period: Softer Strategies Without Threat (2002-2006)

In the first period of this study analyzed- between 2002 and 2006, there were no direct threats, pointing directly to the incumbent. There were conditions of structural constraints brought by the tutelary democracy. Therefore, uncertainty was coming from two sides: the electoral uncertainty given that the AKP was a new party ruling only with 34% of the votes, and the tutelary regime's uncertainty due to tradition of military involvement in Turkish politics through closing parties and making coups. Under these conditions, the AKP government based its survival strategies on these structural constraints given by Turkish politics' historical development and the tutelary democracy itself. Thus, AKP's combination of strategies could avoid a direct threat coming from traditional powers by not provoking them. In this environment, the AKP government refrained antagonizing opposing forces rather aimed at consolidating its support base and enhancing the power of its potential allies. The AKP government identified itself with reformist-Islamist and democratic view (Saatçioğlu 2014), and as a conservative democrat (Akdogan 2004) without challenging the secularist norms and elites². Consequently, the stability strategies that the government based itself in this period are specific legitimation, soft repression, and informal co-optation.

Specific legitimation was one of the strategies that enhanced the newly established AKP's support base. Firstly, the economic growth contributed to the specific legitimation strategy of the AKP. When the AKP came to power, the economy was newly recovering, and

²In the aftermath of the 1960 and 1980 coups, Turkey had been an electoral democracy under military tutelage where the military had actively intervened politics and was highly secularist and *Kemalist* (Kars-Kaynar 2018). The hegemony of the military over the political arena manifested itself by coups and preventing anti secularist actors from having a significant amount of power. The National Security Council, and judiciary bodies were ideologically secular and non-pluralist (Kars-Kaynar 2018; Kuru and Stepan 2012, 71). The constitutional court dissolved the Virtue Party – that was coming from the "National Outlook Movement," which was explicitly in favor of Islamist and nationalist political agenda (Yıldız 2003). In the wake of the closure case, the party was split into two groups (Ceran 2019). One of the groups called reformists, including Recep Tayyip Erdoğan and Abdullah Gül, established a new party called Justice and Development Party (AKP) lead by Erdoğan (Ibid). The reformist group evolved to AKP presented itself as pro-democratic, moderate and reformist, quitted from the National Outlook view, and seeking close relations with the Western world, unlike the National Outlook Movement (Kesgin 2020).

the recovery was attributed to the AKP's success (Akçay 2018). In the economically and politically unstable years between 1991 to 2002, Turkey experienced many unstable coalition governments (Cosar and Ozman 2004). Due to the 2001 financial crisis' severe hit, the coalition government needed to implement neoliberal policies through the International Monetary Fund's structural adjustment program (IMF) (Özdemir 2020). After a year, the coalition government adopted IMF's program when the economy started its relative recovery, and the newly established AKP came to power in 2002 and managed the following steps of the reforms (Özdemir 2020). Even though the economy starts its recovery after 2001 (Ibid), the coalition government led by three parties held an early election due to the financial crisis. As a result of an early election, a newly established party -the AKP came to power. The first turn of the AKP government corresponded to economic improvement as well. Until the end of 2002, the real GDP growth went up from -6 to 6.4, and the relative growth remained until 2007 (IMF 2019). Also, until 2002 the inflation rate decreased to 45.1 from 54.2 and dropped to 8.8 until the end of 2006 (Ibid). In the 2007 general elections, the AKP got 49,83% of the vote share. According to a research conducted in 2007 by a research company, KONDA, 42.7% of the voters consider that county's economy is improving while 30.1% of the voters are arguing that the country's economy is getting worse. 80.1% of the AKP supporters responded that the economy has improved, 68.2 of the opposition voters stated that it was worsened (Ağırdır 2007). The financial crisis and the IMF package in the following eased the way for the AKP to be elected as well as maintain its performance-based claims. Following KONDA's mentioned research, the AKP's voters are convinced that the government is performing well in terms of economy. Firstly, the relative economic improvement contributed to the specific legitimation strategy of the incumbent in relation to the performance of the regime (Gerschewski 2013). Secondly, after a long period of Turkish politics' economic and political instability, it increased the chance of being elected for the second term.

Secondly, the specific legitimation strategy was implied with social assistance provided to a particular segment of society. The provision of these aids to a certain segment, not for everyone, and the provision of aid through municipalities rather than social policy has led to a clientelist relationship between the targeted poor population and the government (Dogan 2017). Since the early days of its office, the AKP government could penetrate lower segments of the population. The AKP government could carry out its widespread organizational structure in the neighborhoods through municipalities (Ibid). It was able to survive despite the inequalities brought by neoliberal policies of IMF and WB, mostly with the opportunities offered by the pro-AKP Islamic foundations, and specific social benefits (Özdemir 2020, Dogan 2017). The type of organization, together with the type of neoliberal policies, brought about strong clientelist relationships between the poorer segments of the society and the incumbent. Newly adopted IMF and WB implementations eased the way of clientelist redistribution policies, instead of programmatic or universal one, that was not regularly implemented, and their continuity was uncertain (Özdemir 2020). Thanks to these policies, the AKP could establish its support base through the specific legitimation strategy.³ With citizens who were informally employed, unemployed, or poor, the targeted characteristic of social policies connected the poor directly to the party through the mechanism of social assistance in exchange for a vote (Ibid). Besides the social assistance has been targeted, it has had a charity-based characteristic via inkind benefits that municipalities provided, which constructed the novel kind of clientelist structure and corruption in Turkish politics (Özdemir 2020, 10).

Thirdly, through the EU membership process, international engagement allowed the government to use it as a specific legitimization tool by bringing policies based on European standards, reorganizing the economy and politics in Turkey (Günay and Dzihic 2016).

³ Although this study's research design takes clientelist relationships as an indicator of informal co-optation strategy, it includes only the elite level. Therefore, "mass co-optation" with the larger population refers to specific legitimation (Gerschewski 2013, 33).

Besides, the EU process opened the way to remove military guardianship from specific institutions, that will allow the AKP government to strengthen informal co-optation strategy in the future. Erdoğan used the EU process in a practical manner that served to the AKP's interest other than Europeanization itself (Akçay 2018, Avcı 2011, Keyman and Öniş 2003). The process opened the gate for the liberation of the judicial system from tutelage towards the ruling of civilian authorities (Erensü and Alemdaroğlu 2018, Güler and Bölücek 2016). At the same time, areas liberated from the military tutelage was filled by pro-AKP personals. According to EU's Progress Reports for Turkey between 2002-2006, in line with the EU's necessities, the incumbent took several steps to decrease the dominance of the military in politics as well as over judiciary through decreasing the frequency of National Security Council (NSC) meetings and decreasing its effectiveness incrementally, increasing the number of civilians in the NSC, expanding the transparency for defense expenditures, decreasing the defense budget. While the incumbent tried to purify the judicial system from the military's tutelage, it is clear that the government was not eager to follow further steps towards proper European standards (Comission of the European Communities 2007). The incumbent's determination on the membership is a strategic move to both dilute secular and Kemalist players as well as get the domestic and international approval (Akçay 2018). Therefore, it is just to say that the government used the EU process for pragmatic reasons.

When the support base of the EU membership decreased, the government took action accordingly. According to public opinion researches conducted by Eurobarometer: in 2001, 59% of Turkey's public opinion supported EU membership by stating, "EU membership of Turkey would be a good thing." While the view of seeing EU membership as a good thing increased to 71% until 2004. After 2004, there was a severe drop. While in 2005 the support for the EU regressed to 59%, in 2007 and 2008 it fell below 50%. The period when the support dropped dramatically corresponds to the time negative statements made by German and French

leaders Merkel and Sarkozy towards Turkey's membership, and European Court of Human Rights' (ECHR) approval on the headscarf ban, that resulted in the alienation of the public opinion from EU (Avci 2011, 414-416). Decreasing public opinion also decreased the government's interest in further necessary implications for membership. These situations created the usual conditions for the AKP, which has already used the EU process pragmatically to stand against the EU. Therefore EU played an active role in two directions: first, it was an indication that it will raise democratic policy standards that helped the government to earn international and domestic legitimacy until the relations got worse; second, it reduced military tutelage, facilitating future repression and assigning pro-AKP names in the aftermath of liquidations.

Informal co-optation strategy was established mostly through pro-AKP business elite and public procurements. The AKP started to strengthen its existing power by attracting economically strong groups. The AKP could co-opt with the newly emerged conservative business association- MÜSİAD, which provided the AKP financial and human resources as well as ideological support (Başkan 2010, 411) In 2002 and 2007 general elections, some of the members of the MÜSİAD were elected as MPs of the AKP (Başkan 2010, 412). The MÜSİAD created new branches in different Anatolian and Western cities of Turkey due to directions suggested by AKP and provided technical advice in economic policymaking, which souped-up AKP's export-led growth strategies (Ibid). As AKP started to consolidate its power, it strengthened its relations with the more traditional business association TÜSİAD, known as the business association of elites close to the Kemalist political circles and values (Akçay 2009, 261). The liberalizing economic policies with the EU and the IMF's help eased the collaborations between business associations and the incumbent. Therefore, economic elites were no longer in the monopoly of secular state elites. MÜSİAD, which developed with the neoliberal wind of the 1980s and, unlike TÜSİAD, mostly consists of Anatolian conservative businesspeople, did not hesitate to openly support the AKP.

Nonetheless, informal co-optation was not limited to AKP's relations with organized interest. In the case of public procurements, councilors were faced with accusations such as making decisions in favor of local capital groups and not paying the real estate tax share that should be collected to the special provincial administration (Dogan 2017, 226). The official reports include procedures such as illegal construction on personal and state treasury lands, decisions against the zoning license, and not obeying the tender regulations in the purchase of goods to the regulated sales stores (Ibid). The infraction of rules via public procurements continued and developed throughout the AKP's following years. In 2003, the 21/b clause of the bargaining procedure in the Public Procurement Law came into force. According to the clause, if there is a state of emergency such as natural disaster, epidemic, risk of loss of life or property, or it is compulsory to make tender urgently, procurement must be made immediately in order to ensure the safety of building or life and property⁴. In these cases, the 21/b can be implied. According to 21/b, there is no obligation to announce the procurement, and it is not open to all firms (Toker 2019). Since it came to power, the AKP government has widely used 21/b even though there is no state of emergency and sell the procurements only to a few firms (Ibid). Since it is not announced, nobody knows, and therefore the money was transferred to certain companies (Bozkürk 2019). Therefore, by using 21/b selectively, the government was able to transfer resources to his cronies without competition. Through this mechanism, the AKP consolidated its power with informal co-optation using formal rules⁵.

Soft repression strategy, especially when it comes to the Kurdish Question, some inherited restraints preserved itself in spite of the EU membership process reformation.

⁴ <u>https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/MevzuatMetin/1.5.4734.pdf</u>

⁵ The trend in Corruption Perceptions Index for Turkey (Transparency International nc.d), since 2002, corresponds to the claims.

However, there were some limited improvements in terms of civil rights and liberties. For example, the incumbent abolished the state of emergency that violated human rights in Kurdish provinces (Kirişçi 2011). The government's efforts to decrease the military power manifested itself here in terms of the decreasing influence of the military in Kurdish towns and an improvement in human rights. However, Kurdish lessons and education are banned in public schools (Freedom House Turkey Reports, 2002-2006). Freedom of speech and independent media was also under risk. The freedom area of the media was limited in that journalists are subjected to prosecution if they commit defamation and violate antiterrorism and press laws (Ibid). Five journalists were imprisoned due to their work and charged with making propaganda and/or being a member of a terrorist organization (Committee to Protect Journalists n.d). Despite the relative improvements regarding civil rights and liberties, the restrictions and prosecutions of the media and journalists prove the existence of the government's soft repression strategy. Conspicuously, AKP's soft repression strategies mainly targeted against Kurds and pro-Kurdish media, avoiding attacking the secular mainstream media.

The overall pattern suggests that structural constraints of Turkish politics shaped AKP's survival strategies. Under the conditions of no direct threat from the secular state elite and from citizens, AKP, as a newcomer to Turkish politics, refrained from using strategies that would jeopardize its power. For example, it refrained from using any diffuse – identity-related legitimation strategies. This helped the government avoid the rise of a one-dimensional secular-Islamist conflict and mobilize alliances of different interests through the EU process. Similarly, the EU "carrot," and the government's control of security apparatuses, lead the government to avoid any hard repression. The determining factor in choosing strategies was also related to the government's capacity, determining the strategies according to the circumstances by making rational calculations. Furthermore, the EU process's economic growth and relative success reinforced the existing strategies until the end of the period.

Legitimation, co-optation, and repression strategies are self-reinforcing and in relation to each other, and effective when used in combination (Gerschewski 2013). Since they are selfreinforcing, when the incumbent introduced or used one of the strategies, that means it reinforces itself, and it is hard to quit this strategy unless it is harmful to the incumbent or there is no resource to do that. Therefore, already applied strategies of specific legitimation, informal co-optation, and soft repression were not abandoned by the incumbent in the following years of the AKP's rule. However, as the following section shows, existing strategies were not enough to confront the threats coming from the citizens and the elite.

3.2 The Second Period: Towards Diffuse Legitimation and Hard Repression (2007-2012)

The first set of threats directed against the incumbent came in the 2007-2012 period, leading to the introduction of high repression and diffuse legitimation strategies. Particularly, illiberal behaviors of tutelary powers and illiberal mobilization of masses further activated authoritarian tendencies of the AKP government, that started to follow new survival strategies. The 2007-2012 period includes horizontal threats by the ruling elite and vertical threat that changed the incumbent's survival strategies.

The first type of horizontal threat came from the military. On 27 April 2007, in the night of the parliament elected Abdullah Gül as President⁶, The Chief of General Staff Yaşar Büyükanıt, on behalf of the Turkish Armed Forces (TAF), published an e-memorandum on the Turkish Armed Forces website against the AKP nominating Abdullah Gül as a candidate (Akçay 2018). E-memorandum said, "The prominent problem that arises in the presidential election process focuses on secularism discussions. The latest situation worries the Turkish Armed Forces. It should not be forgotten that the TAF also is an authority in these discussions and an absolute defender of secularism. Besides, the TAF is definitely against the ongoing

⁶ In 2007, Erdoğan nominated Abdullah Gül as a presidential candidate. Abdullah Gül was previously a member of the Welfare Party (Refah Partisi), closed due to its anti-secular stance. Many of Abdullah Gül's anti-secular statements throughout his political life have received negative reactions from secular circles, especially the military. Therefore, his candidacy created a crisis within the secular ruling elite- the military.

discussions and will reveal its attitude and behavior when necessary. Nobody should have doubts about this" (Mynet 2015). The government officials' direct warning to change its stance towards presidential candidates was another sign of the strong military tutelage in Turkey.

Unlike the military tutelage's structural constraints towards the government, this was a clear and direct threat pointing to the party and its officials that they are not the only player. The memorandum indicated the message to the government that, under the circumstances, the incumbent's survival depends on its compliance with the military, emphasizing Kemalist and secular values of the state. Thus, the e-memorandum and the functioned as a horizontal threat against the AKP government.

Within an aggressive military environment, other tutelary powers, such as the judiciary, also challenged the AKP rule in an illiberal way. One example the way judiciary blocked Gül's election as president: Relying on a very ambiguous law in the constitution, the constitutional court declared that when the parliament elected Abdullah Gül, less than 367 parliamentarians attended the session, so the election was not binding (Paksüt 2007). As the Kemalist opposition party CHP kept boycotting the session, it forced AKP to change the constitution so that the president could be directly elected (Erem 2019). Thus, the constitutional court's decision encouraged AKP to move away from the existing rules of the game. Furthermore, other ideologically motivated branches of the judiciary also attacked AKP directly: The chief public prosecutor of the court of cassation, Abdurrahman Yalçınkaya, filed a lawsuit to the Constitutional Court with the request that the Justice and Development Party be closed with the allegation that it became the focus of acts against secularism (DW 2008). In the AKP closure case, the request for closure was rejected, with six against five votes. According to the decision reached, AKP will be deprived of half the treasury aid (Millivet 2008a). Overall it became clear that the AKP rule faced a double horizontal threat from judicial and military tutelary powers.

The second type of threat, the citizens' vertical threat through mass demonstrations, was brought about right after the e-memorandum was published. Mass demonstrations called "Republican Meetings" organized by secular-Kemalist associations immediately followed the e-memorandum warning of the top elites (Akçay 2018, 17). Republican Meetings were highly populated and spread big cities of Turkey, such as Ankara-the capital, İstanbul, and İzmir. The concern was that the AKP was digressing from republican and democratic value, secularism, that the republic has been built on (DW 2007). Kemalist-secular groups announced that the possibility of having a political-Islamist president damages the republic's secular characteristics and its future as it is (Akçay 2018). The direct reaction to the government's decision manifested itself through the massively used slogan "Turkey is secular and will remain secular" and other slogans with the emphasis on nationalism against Islamic values (DW 2007). The statements during the demonstrations and the demonstrations themselves showed that e-memorandum is seen as legitimate by a considerable amount of the population. Current strategies the government bearing was not enough to get over the whole tutelage and the uncertainty that both the ruling elite and mass demonstrations created, concerning the future elections and the probability of being removed by another closure case or coup as they were the case in the past.

Above mentioned threats against the government required incumbency to consolidate its support-base through diffuse legitimation strategy besides other strategies. While the mass demonstrations indicated a lack of popular legitimacy (Thyen and Gerschewski 2018), the AKP government needed to secure its rule and make sure that its voters do not side with the military's position. Besides, hard repression strategy to repress the remaining influence of the military power and the opposition, was implied.

The threat from the military indicated that it still wants to be an effective actor in Turkish politics. At the same time, both the EU, especially after 2005 (Nugent 2007), and Turkish public opinion, moved away from the positive stance for Turkey's EU membership. Therefore,

with less consideration of the EU's benefits, capturing the army for power became an easier and more effective move for the incumbent. Thus, acknowledging and mobilizing the secular-Islamist divide between military and government, AKP opted for diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategies. Particularly, the diffuse legitimation strategy was established against the military's secular ideology through antagonizing ethno-populist and Islamist grievances to consolidate its support base. On the other hand, hard repression became less costly due to tutelary powers' aggressive behaviors and fabricated evidence of a coup plan prepared by informally co-opted Gülenist allies of the government.

The perceived threats coming from the ruling elite required the AKP government to counteract military power dominance in the upcoming years to survive. Judges who were supporters of the AKP initiated Ergenekon and Sledgehammer cases based on the ungrounded conspiracy that the military generals are planning a coup to overthrow the government. According to the judges, the Ergenekon and Sledgehammer cases were one of the cases that secular-Kemalist officers were planning a coup in cooperation with secular-Kemalist journalists and non-governmental organizations. The fact that those who are accused of being involved in coup plans are not just the members of TAF but also secular-Kemalist journalists and non-governmental organizations is a sign that it is an answer to Republican Meetings as well. Therefore, the vertical threat coming from the citizens also led to the change in the incumbent's strategies, invoking hard repression.

Soft repression strategy was materialized by a wide range of detention of the Turkish Armed Forces members, civil society members, business elite, academicians, and journalists accused of involving in a coup plan (Ertuğrul and Yılmaz 2018). With the help of Ergenekon and Sledgehammer conspiracy cases, the AKP government intimidated the military and the opposition forces and seemed like a threat to the incumbency (Ibid). Through these cases, the military tutelage was wrecked deeply in which more than a hundred military members were tried in the court and arrested.

The introduction of the hard repression strategy to the combination manifested itself through the opposition's political imprisonments or taking away their political rights either related to Ergenekon and Sledgehammer cases or Kurdish question. This period corresponds to when the AKP government co-opted with the Islamist organization of the Gülen Movement through Ergenekon and Sledgehammer cases (Taş 2018).

The Gülen movement could reach a variety of branches as a result of informal cooptation with the government. It had become capillary that it had considerable influence over ministries, education, judiciary, and foreign affairs through appointment the Gülen Movement members to the important posts of the government, including key positions in the military as well (Yavuz and Koç 2016, 137). Even after the constitutional changes in 2010, together with the Gülen Movement, the government could thwart any opposition and occupy bureaucratic institutions (Castaldo 2018).

The hard repression strategy in the period also involved imprisonment and political attacks against opposition forces. Following the lawsuits pointing to the army but also prosecuting the opposition and the secular associations, the cases pointing to the Kurdish movement came as KCK trials. It is also safe to say that the Gülen Movement's actors conducted KCK (Kurdistan Communities Union) trials that sought political imprisonment of the Kurdish politicians. In the report titled "15 July 2016, coup attempt in 10 questions and Gülenist terrorist organization⁷ in 10 questions" published on the Presidential website after the 15 July coup attempt, it was revealed that Gülenist terrorist organization liquidated its rivals with false evidence and fiction courts in Ergenekon, Sledgehammer, KCK cases (Evrensel 2019) ". As a

⁷ Although Gülen movement was an ally of the AKP government between 2007 and 2012, the AKP government started to call the movement a terrorist organization after 15 July 2016 coup attempt.

result of KCK trials, one of the BDP (Kurdish Party) candidate's deputyship was banned due to the accusation of spreading PKK propaganda, and seven of them were banned during the election campaign to prevent the possibility of having BDP to exceed 10% electoral threshold. (Aydın-Düzgit 2012). Also, five BDP deputies, two CHP deputies, and one MHP deputy were banned from the parliament concerning Sledgehammer, Ergenekon, and KCK cases (Ibid). President of Worker's Party, Dogu Perincek was imprisoned (Milliyet 2008b). Overall, the AKP government has engaged in hard repression towards both the mainstream elite and peripheral political elites.

The vertical and horizontal threats nudged the AKP to engage in diffuse legitimation strategies as well. Both the ruling elite's challenges pointing to the AKP and the citizens' mass demonstrations activated the AKP's populist rhetoric. Quantitative data further confirms this point. According to the Global Populism Database, while Erdoğan's speeches were found 0.25 (not populist) point populist between 2003-2007. It increased to 0.875 (populist) between 2007-2011 and kept its populist rhetoric on the same numbers until 2014. Between 2014-2018 it jumped even to 1.5 points (very populist). After the e-memorandum in 2007, the liberal democratic discourse of the party members' and its leader Erdoğan's discourse has switched to conservative authoritarian one (Özsel et al. 2013, Türk 2018). The crisis of memorandum by the ruling elite and following demonstrations by the citizens incentivized Erdoğan to use us versus them distinction which based on the idea that the legitimate government who represents the will of people was tried to be eliminated by the 2007 events lead by "putschist" (Selcuk 2016, 578) who are against the will of the people (Türk 2018, 68). The rhetorical distinction between the elites -the military elite as well as the secular-Kemalist politicians who are claimed to be disconnected from society's values and the ordinary people - pious Anatolian people who supports the AKP and who are considered as the only source of legitimacy of political powerhelped Erdoğan to antagonize different political camps against each other (Aytaç and Elçi 2019, 38-39). In other words, Erdoğan's populism illustrates to the people that while the founding "center" (Mardin 1973) elite establishment is against their will, Erdoğan and his party is representing the "ordinary people," (Mudde 2011) through demonizing secularism and emphasizing Islamist ideology in the background (Somer 2019, 46). In this sense, Erdoğan's ideological rhetoric mainly targeted secular establishment discrediting establishment institutions (Dinçşahin 2012). Besides there is no concrete evidence that shows Erdoğan targeted supporters of Republican rallies, using diffuse legitimation strategies Thus, events happened between 2007-2012 activated AKP's populist and antagonist politics.

Overall, analysis of the period between 2007- 2012 suggests that AKP responded to the secular elite's and masses' illiberal pressures by hard repression and diffuse legitimation strategies. The AKP regime has engaged in hard repression to end the military tutelage, as the military targeted the AKP rule for the first time. The regime jailed military generals and the alleged coup sympathizer civil actors, journalists and politicians, using co-opted Gülenist prosecutors. Understanding the potential benefits of the secular-Islamist divide due to threats coming to secular masses and elite, it used an ethnic-populist and Islamist rhetoric to claim legitimacy and delegitimize challengers. Thus, once the regime received direct threats from opposition forces- as horizontal and vertical threats-, it has engaged in more aggressive and antagonistic strategies of diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategies.

However, it should be noted that AKP continued to use strategies that were established before 2007, although these strategies specific content have changed. Despite the inevitable negative impact of the 2008 economic crisis in macroeconomic indicators, the AKP government advertised and capitalized pork-barrel programs and large-scale investments such as bridges, roads in its rhetoric, and electoral campaigns (AKP 2011, Gumuscu 2013, 232-233). Scholarship highlights that perception of governments' economic success was the key factor for voting for the incumbent in 2011 elections and voting "yes" in the 2010 constitutional

36

referendum (Aydin-Duzgit 2012, 340; Cinar 2016). Soft repression was also intensified through use of defamation laws and financial pressure towards media owned by dissent groups (Akser and Baybars-Hawks 2012). More importantly, the media's securitization through accusations such as promoting terrorism started to force journalists to engage in self-censorship (Söyler 2017, 47-49). In this sense, in an environment of hard repression and diffuse legitimation, soft repression also took more offensive forms. Lastly, as stated earlier, informal co-optation with Gülen movement provided bases for hard repression: in exchange of political inclusion of Gülenists in parliament and bureaucratic appointment, judges close to Gülen movement repressed the secular dissident through Ergenekon and Sledgehammer cases (Taş 2018, 397).

3.3 The Third Period: Introducing Formal Co-optation, Intensifying Diffuse Legitimation and Hard Repression (2013-2019)

Between 2013-2019, the AKP's intensity on the strategies and the number of strategies increased once more. While the incumbent relied more on diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategy, it also introduced the formal co-optation strategy through an electoral alliance with a party that was in opposition before. Since the threats in this period were stronger than previous periods, the incumbency relied on a new strategy and more intense use of the previously established strategies. Since it can be said that Gezi protests were more widespread and include not one political stance but more inclusive in terms of ideologies and identities than the Republican Meetings, the diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategies used more on the opposition. Besides vertical threat through Gezi protests, the horizontal threat from the Gülen Movement – called Gülenist Terrorist Organization by the incumbency- within the army through fatal coup attempt also increased the incumbency's aggressiveness on the usage of hard repression and diffuse legitimation. Besides, the united opposition against Erdoğan's regime, which was more powerful than any time in his leadership, made the AKP formally co-opt with MHP (Nationalist Movement Party) to secure its base in the parliament with loyal allies.

A mass demonstration of the Gezi Movement made to the incumbency to rely on diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategies. Taksim Gezi Park protests had started as an action to prevent the AKP government from reconstructing the artillery barracks in Taksim Gezi Park in the Beyoğlu district of Istanbul without zoning permission. The number of protesters exponentially increased in the following days and nights when the police responded to a small group's gathering to prevent the demolition of the Taksim Gezipark. The small protests began due to environmental issues against the government's widespread construction practices, and deforestation rapidly turned into a movement against the Erdoğan's authoritarian regime and his party (Castaldo 2018). Even, Gezipark demonstrations were the protests that most protesters have participated in, in the history of the Republic of Turkey (Yardimci-Geyikçi 2014). To thwart the participators, an excessive force applied by the police using intense plastic bullets and pepper spray increased the protests and made the protests spread to many districts of Istanbul and other cities. The government chose to exert pressure, which prompted more protesters to participate, rather than reconcile. The range of the hard repression strategy was present both in the political and physical sphere. On 21 June 2013, The Turkish Medical Association reported that, according to hospital records, while 4 protesters died, 7832 protestors injured, 60 of them lost their eyes due to direct involvement with police force (Karahan 2013).

The diversity and massiveness of the Gezi Movement's social coalition required Erdoğan to neutralize the protests in the eyes of the remaining part of society. Gezi protests did not resemble any protests the government had previously encountered both in terms of its number, the protestors belonged to various identities and political stances including conservative Muslims unsatisfied with AKP's authoritarian behaviors, Kemalists, liberals, Alevis, environmentalists (Bashirov and Lancaster, 2018), Kurdish people (Yardimci-Geyikçi 2014, Kaya 2016). Also, demonstrations are dominated by the youth, although elderlies are also part of that. (Kaya 2016). These societal groups had one in common that they were against the AKP government's life-controlling implications, conservative-Islamist authoritarianism, and polarizing discourse (Kaya 2015). This diversity is another difference from the Republican Meetings, which were dominated by the people having a secular-Kemalist ideology. Thus, the incumbent used diffuse legitimation strategy, only referring more to the Gezi Movement's illegitimacy, calling the protestors as looters, foreign agents, and traitors. Also, while Gezi Protests were going on, to be able to keep the AKP's support base active, in several cities, Erdoğan too held "Meetings of Respect for the National Will" where thousands of its supporters participated either themselves or through the assistance of the government (for example, there were buses provided by the government to carry the people from their home to meeting place). Erdoğan claimed that there were terrorists and collaborators with terrorists among those who frequently participated in Gezi protests and said he would not leave this homeland to terrorists (Sabah 2013). For the government, vertical threat through mass demonstrations by the diverse coalition of the previously conflicting segments of the society represented a challenge to the incumbency and its future. Therefore, the government tried to repress protestors and political opposition, antagonize the people who are with the protestors, and the ones with the government. Erdoğan directly pointed protesters as an enemy of the nation, and the international powers' agents and the controlled media misrepresented the demonstrations and demonized the protestors. Furthermore, pro-government media attempted to portray the events in simplified and moral terms, exploiting Islam. For example, the pro-government media claimed that a hundred protesters attacked a hijabi woman only for wearing a hijab, and some protestors drank alcohol in a famous mosque Istanbul (Kaya 2017). Although both of these accusations were found false later on, they highlight how the AKP government attempted to delegitimize the protestors on moral grounds, using Islamist ideology. Therefore, the evidence suggests that the movement's regime-challenging nature led Erdoğan to frame the political conflict with protestors in antagonistic terms.

Furthermore, diffuse legitimation complemented and justified the use of hard repression during and aftermath of the Gezi movement. Thus, the incumbent delegitimized the opposition, presenting the Gezi movement as a security issue baring on nationalism, Islamism, and populism. While the hard repression strategy through political imprisonments and the imprisonment of the well-known individuals were implied in the second period, in the third period, the Gezi Movement brought hard repression of police brutality and increased the intensity of other forms of hard repression and soft repression strategy on whole opposition.

Linking the CHP's (Republican People's Party) leader with terrorist organizations, Erdoğan tried to delegitimize both the movement and the main opposition party using religion, nationalism, and populism. While the incumbent presented the Gezi Protests as a security issue and terrorized the movement, it also legitimized the hard repression strategy used on the protestors, proposing nation and its security as a pretext for hard repression. The death of fourteen-year-old Berkin Elvan, who died in the intensive care unit due to tear gas cartridge, hit his head during the Gezi protests and later caused a great public reaction. Erdoğan said at the Gaziantep meeting that the cause of Berkin's death was not the police, but the terrorist group, DHKP-C. He also accused Kılıçdaroğlu, the main opposition party leader, of collaborating with terrorist groups.

"... Unfortunately, a child with iron balls in his pocket, given a sling by his terrorist organizations, was unfortunately addressed a pepper gas. My brothers, how can the police differentiate how old that person was, throwing iron balls with a slingshot in his hand? But Kılıçdaroğlu says his lie, as usual, says what the child was going to buy bread. To be honest, it is not about buying bread. His mother says that my child's murderer is the prime minister. (hoot) I know love at home, but I don't understand your throwing cloves and iron balls to your son's grave. I wonder if you're throwing that iron ball, what message are you giving to your son's grave? They work hand in hand with the DHKP-C terrorist organization."

The evidence suggests that Erdoğan framed the killings in the Gezi movement in terms

of national values and security to delegitimize the protestors and associated political elite.

In this period, the ruling elite's horizontal threats came from the institutions of judiciary and military, that were dominated by the government's informally co-opted ally- the Gülen Movement since the beginning of the second period. The first two waves of detention that came after the prosecutor opened an investigation, targeting pro-AKP names, were followed by a fatal coup attempt. On 17 December 2013 Gülen Movement operated an anti-corruption unit that detained forty-seven pro-AKP names and sons of the ministers who are involved in bribery (Yavuz 2018)⁸. Just eight days later, on 25 December, the government encountered a new wave of threat by the Gülen Movement. Immediately after the corruption operation, Erdoğan and his son's telephone conversation about hiding the money they had were leaked to the public (Yavuz and Koç 2016, 140). Erdoğan rejected the recorded tapes, claimed that the tapes were "montaged" and launched a political campaign against the Gülen Movement by accusing the Gülen Movement as the "parallel state" that created a state within the state (Yavuz 2018). Following the waves of arrest, the AKP government dismissed hundreds of public prosecutors, police officers, and judges who were in contact with the Gülen Movement (Taş 2018, 400). As a reaction, the AKP government purged public servants who were flagged as secular, liberals, Kurds, or Gülenist and filled these approximately 100.000 positions with party clients (Bashirov and Lancaster 2018). In addition to that, Erdoğan capitalized on his populist rightwing discourse, demonizing the opposition as internal enemies who are cooperating with external enemies of Turkey (Wodak 2015, Aydın-Düzgit 2016). In 2016, the tense relationship between the government and the Gülen Movement peaked with the coup attempt of the Gülen Movement. On 15 July, the coup attempt led to the death of more than two thousand people by the members of the Gülen Movement in the army, but the coup could be prevented thanks to the pro-government civilians going out on the streets and opposing the military. Erdoğan then presented the Gülen Movement as the Gülenist Terrorist Organization (Fetullahçı Terör

⁸ Until the first horizontal threat by the Gülen Movement came in 2013, Erdoğan's refusal to give more privileges when the Gülen Movement became stronger -especially in the judiciary- affected the relations negatively, in which Erdoğan refused to appoint more than a hundred deputy from the Gülen Movement members in 2011 elections, and the closure of the private preparatory education establishments dominated by the Gülen Movement tightened the negative relationship between those two (Taş 2018).

Örgütü), and the group behind the Gezi Movement (Taş 2018). Four days after the coup attempt, state of emergency was declared by Erdoğan, giving the authority to Erdoğan and cabinet of ministers to rule by decree, and in the following years, Erdoğan renewed it seven times (Taş 2018, 402; Houston 2018, 532, Akbaş-Demirel et al. 2019). Strategies government intensified on were pointing horizontal threats from the military and the vertical threat from the citizens together. Erdoğan also called those who attempted the coup as a terrorist. Both Erdoğan and the media under his control frequently stated that Gezi Protests were also one of the Gülen movements planned to overthrow the government. While diffuse legitimation strategy materialized by targeting both the coup makers and Gezi protestors as traitors and the nation's enemy, the hard repression strategy was used to eliminate the whole opposition, either targeting Gülen Movement Gezi Protesters, and any opposition.

The soft repression strategy targeted large segments of society. The dismissals provided by the decree laws targeted not only the people who planned coup but also the people who were considered having a relationship with the Gülen Movement (Houston 2018, 534). Four days after the coup attempt, the government dismissed approximately fifty thousand people who were considered close to the Gülen Movement, and working in public and private education institutions, including the presidency, private educational institutions, military officers, Council of Higher Education, MIT (National Intelligence Agency), and the Energy Market Supervision Agency, and five ministries. (Milliyet 2016, T24 2016). However, the government has not dismissed only the people who were in relation to the Gülen Movement and people who have no relationship but in opposition, such as academicians and Kurdish people (Houston 2018, 534). For example, four hundred and six people signed the Academics for Peace Declaration were expelled from their jobs through decree laws (Akbaş-Demirel et al. 2019). While the soft repression strategy concentrated in general oppositional forces, hard repression strategy over the political sphere mostly implied Kurdish politics (Bayulgen et al. 2018), claiming an ongoing relationship between Kurdish politicians and terrorist organizations, PKK. According to the Trustee Report, titled Trustee Regime in Turkey: The Extortion of the Right to Choose and to be Elected, published by the Kurdish party, HDP (Peoples' Democratic Party), "the trustee appointments took place in 3 metropolitan cities, 10 provinces, 63 districts and 22 towns and a total of 95 municipalities with HDP, and state officials, that is, appointed people, were placed in these municipalities" (Birgün 2019). The substitution of elected persons to municipalities in Kurdish cities and towns, instead of elected officials, shows the hard repression strategy's political aspect.

Diffuse legitimation strategy provided intimidation and self-censorship of the opposition. Erdoğan was able to neutralize the opposition against the hard repression strategy he implemented, thanks to his intense nationalist rhetoric. Both the opposition parties' nationalist ideology and the exclusionary, hostile, and antagonist rhetoric that Erdoğan used after the Gezi Movement and Gülen Movement's coup attempt led to intimidating the opposition (Yilmaz et al. 2020). In March 2016, President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan launched a call to the parliament to remove immunity and targeted HDP and its co-chairs responsible for terrorist attacks (Sayın 2020). Erdoğan stressed that the deputies who are related to terrorism should be tried by removing the immunity of the deputies (Ibid). Following this, there was a constitutional amendment in parliament aimed at removing immunity (Ibid). Although not all opposition party members CHP's deputies supported this decision, its leader made statements confirming the removal of immunity (Pişkin 2020). The voting results also showed that some CHP members voted to lift immunity (Birgün 2016). Four months after the coup attempt was overcome, major arrest operations were initiated, especially for HDP (Ibid). Many HDP deputies were arrested and imprisoned, including HDP co-chairs Selahattin Demirtas and Figen Yüksekdağ, and CHP deputy Enis Berberoğlu (Ibid).

One of the diffuse legitimation strategy tools of the incumbency was the ideologyoriented TV series following the horizontal threat of the ruling elite and vertical threat of the citizens. Empire/Islam-glorifying discourse that increased in the period after the Gezi Movement was the Ottoman TV series' that were increasingly broadcasted (Cevik 2019). The common feature of these series, such as Payitaht Abdülhamid II. and Dirilis Ertuğrul, which is broadcast on the state channel TRT and is very popular in the AKP's vote base, is that there are always internal enemies and putschist in their themes who make agreements with external powers to overthrow the government (Çevik 2019). Furthermore, the strong man figure who fights with traitors who collaborate with these external threads became prominent in the series. This narrative also corresponds to Erdoğan's turn to charismatic leadership, claiming himself as the *Reis* (the chief) of the Turkish nation who is native and national (Yilmaz et al. 2020, 8), standing against foreign powers and their collaborators. Therefore, TV series became a part of the diffuse legitimation strategy of the incumbent. Although they display the Ottoman era, there have been connections with contemporary politics in some episodes of these series, pointing the contemporary threats as the plans of the traitors (Ibid). While the Dirilis Ertugrul's first episode was broadcasted after one year later from Gezipark Movement, the Payitaht Abdülhamid II's first episode was broadcasted seven months later than the coup attempt. The themes and discourses focused on in the series proceeded synchronously with the government's actions and legitimized the government's discourses as a propaganda tool (Ibid).

The Post Gezi period gradually paved the way for the unification of opposition forces against AKP's increasingly aggressive authoritarian behavior. Although the Gezi Movement was not led by the opposition parties but was a spontaneous reaction of the citizens, it was supported by the opposition parties where members of the opposition parties actively participated (Alas 2013). The horizontal threat by the united opposition materialized itself with the parties' cooperation at the elite level and the pattern of their electorate's voting behavior in

elections. The 7 June 2015 parliamentary elections that resulted in AKP's failure to achieve the majority in parliament resulted from an informal alliance of the opposition. The CHP, which has never approached any alliance with HDP because of its nationalist stance, has been able to direct its voters to vote for HDP by emphasizing that the HDP must exceed the 10 percent threshold for the AKP to lose the majority in November elections (Özçelik 2011). The AKP lost the majority for the first time in this election, and it was the first unification threat that came directly from the opposition parties against the AKP. Although this cooperation is not clearly stated, the two traditionally distant parties could convince their voters to apply for strategic voting against the AKP regime. This strategic alignment of the two parties created a clear threat to the continuity of the regime. However, immediately after AKP failed to achieve the majority to form a government for the first time, MHP's leader Devlet Bahçeli declined any possible coalition, saying that he would not be in any government coalition and wanted the MHP to be an opposition party rather than a part of the incumbency (BBC 2018). When any coalition was failed to be established, this paved the way for the AKP to call snap elections in November, which ended up as a victory of the AKP government. (Savut 2020). Nonetheless, increasing informal cooperation between HDP and CHP was the first light for opposition unification.

Relatedly MHP's lack of opposition to AKP, as indicated by its failure to form a government mobilized the democratic forces within MHP against the party. The group expelled from MHP established a new party named İYİP (Good Party). The leader of the İYİP, Meral Akşener, criticized the MHP's lack of opposition and siding with the AKP since 2015 (CNNTürk 2017). It was the first time there was a threat through a new party that can divide the conservative voters of the AKP with the possibility of a conservative party cooperating with the CHP, which has been antagonist by AKP on secular-religious cleavage.

The signs of possible vertical threats through the united opposition triggered the government towards a formal co-optation strategy. Considering all the opposition side

CEU eTD Collection

developments, the AKP decided to make an election alliance with MHP for the simultaneous parliamentary and presidential elections in 2018 (Esen and Gumuscu 2019, 336-337). It was the first time that the AKP government formally co-opted with another party when running elections. Since there was no horizontal threat of united opposition before, AKP did not need a formal co-optation strategy. With a divided opposition, it could keep its majority in the parliament. However, when the parties in opposition not cooperating before became more altruistic, that was considered a threat to the survival of the AKP's incumbency. Furthermore, as all the mainstream opposition parties, including HDP, CHP and Felicity Party, united around the "no" bloc in the 2017 referendum (Celep 2018, 110), the AKP needed to fortify its position by siding with one of the existing political actors who might potentially become challengers.

As a reaction to AKP's electoral alliance with MHP, called People's Alliance, CHP and İYİP established an alliance, called Nation alliance. Although HDP was excluded from the formal alliance of CHP and İYİP that are nationalist parties, it was informally supported by democratic forces within CHP. Particularly, KONDA research company noted that approximately 1% of CHP voters voted for HDP which in turn helped HDP to exceed 10% electoral threshold (Konda 2018, 56). Furthermore, HDP elite informally supported nation alliances' candidates in 2019 local elections through not nominating candidates in metropolitan cities or in the cities that the IYIP and CHP can win. As a result, CHP candidates won in the three biggest cities of the country, partially thanks to the substantial votes from HDP electorate (Esen and Gumuscu 2019, 336-337). The increasing success of coalition between democratic forces reproduced the alliance between AKP and MHP as still active by the time of writing of the study.

An improvement that proves that the informal co-optation strategy, mostly carried out through public procurements, continues in this period, became visible after the 2019 local elections as well. The tender sold by Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality, which had been ruled by AKP in 2018, for 42.9 million, was sold to the same company for 23 million Liras in 2019. While three companies participated in the tender in 2018, fifteen companies participated in 2019 (Birgün 2019).

The decreasing source of specific support directed the incumbency towards the promotion of prior accomplishments and the future plans of the government. Although by the year 2012 economic slowdown has started -that strains the specific support base- (Akçay 2018), projects of building roads, bridges, and airport construction were advertised people as public service (Türk 2018, 159). While the source of specific support decreased due to the economic decline, the government still relied on the specific legitimation strategy. The government frequently advertised and presented performance-based projects done by the government before, also similar ones to be done in the future, such as the new Istanbul Airport, KanalIstanbul project to open up a new artificial canal in the Marmara Sea, bridges and highways (Ibid.) constructed by the incumbent were highly commercialized.

3.4 Discussion

The longitudinal case study of Turkey confirms three hypotheses, and partly supports one hypothesis (Please see figure 1 below). As Hypothesis 1 expects, new horizontal and/or vertical threats led to change in the combination of stability strategies of the incumbent in the second and the third period, unlike the first period when there is no threat. When the present strategies government relied on were not enough to thwart threats, the combination shifted towards another by adding new strategies.

Hypothesis 2 states that the horizontal threat by the ruling elites leads to the introduction of hard repression and diffuse legitimation strategy towards the ruling elite and the opposition. Both the second and third periods with change confirm this hypothesis. In the second-period military's e-memorandum that directly threatened the AKP government and judiciary's attempts to disannul Gül's election to the presidency and later the case to close the AKP, paved the way for AKP to imprison and replace those authorities, with the fabricated evidence of a planned coup provided by informally co-opted ally, the Gülen Movement. In the third period, when former Gülenist allies threatened the regime by putting corruption charges against Erdoğan's cabinet members and when Gülenist attempted coup, the Erdoğan regime jailed Gülenists and declared it a terrorist organization. Thus, comparing both periods with the first period suggests that direct attacks from horizontal challengers encouraged AKP to innovatively use hard repression. While in the second period, the government introduced the hard repression strategy, in the third period, it strengthens it.

The evidence also suggests that horizontal challenges in the second and third periods activated the ideological core of the AKP government, which started to use ideological propaganda (diffuse legitimation) to legitimize its rule. In the second period, the horizontal challenges from illiberal secular powers encouraged AKP to frame the horizontal game in moral terms, AKP representing the pious Anatolian electorate, horizontal challengers being coup seeking secularists who work for the interest of very few. In the third period, Gülenists' attempt to overthrow the government with corruption charges and a coup was framed as a project of internal allies of external enemies. In this sense, although diffuse legitimation occurred against the horizontal threats in both periods, they were qualitatively different.

Hypothesis 4 expects that the vertical threat by the citizens leads to the introduction of diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategy towards the opposition and the citizens. The evidence from the Turkish case partially confirms this hypothesis. While the Gezi Movement in the third period triggered the diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategies towards the citizens and opposition, in the case of the Republican Rallies, the target of the diffuse legitimation and hard repression was not the citizens but the ruling elites. In the aftermath of the Republican Meetings, the hard repression strategy targeted the ruling elites and political imprisonment of the opposition party members and the ruling elites, but not the citizens who

participated in the rallies. Contrary, the evidence shows that the Gezi movement was brutally repressed by the regime, costing the protestors' life. Thus, although both cases were mass demonstrations (vertical threat) regimes reaction to Gezi and Republican Meetings were different. Tentatively, two explanations can be provided: Firstly, as the Gezi movement was a mobilization of a very diverse coalition of masses, participants of Republican Rallies were mainly secular middle class- typically CHP voters. Thus, an alternative hypothesis is that differences between those two movements' size and diversity led the regime to reach differently. Secondly, as the Republican rallies were intensified following the military's e-memorandum, the former might be operationalized as a horizontal threat. Therefore, vertical threats that are elite driven could be considered as part of horizontal threats.

Hypothesis 3 suggests that the united opposition parties lead incumbents to engage in formal co-optation with the opposition. The post-Gezi movement period confirms this hypothesis. The evidence suggests that the government's increasing authoritarianism lead to a gradually increasing cooperation between secularist CHP, pro-Kurdish HDP, and center-right splinter party IYIP. As all these parties united around the no bloc in the 2017 referendum and CHP and HDP informally cooperated at the elite and voter level at every election since 2013, the government attempted and managed the co-opt the far-right MHP so that they do not join the opposition bloc. Thus, under high electoral uncertainty, the government used formal co-optation as the last bullet to survive. Furthermore, the united opposition's victory in Ankara and Istanbul local elections reinforced AKP's need for a coalition with MHP.

Overall, the findings highlight the causal relationship between the direction and the content of the authoritarian stability strategies and the mass protests, elite disputes, and opposition challenges.

Threat (horizontal and/or vertical)

Horizontal Threat by the Ruling Elites (closure case, coup attempt, ememorandum, judicial actions towards government by the judges)

Horizontal Threat by the United Opposition Parties (uniting/united opposition parties through electoral coalition, strategic voting of the opposition parties' electorate against the ruling party, newly establishing or established cooperation between opposition parties)

CEU eTD Collection

Vertical Threat by the Citizens (mass demonstrations)

COMBINATION OF THE STABILITY STRATEGIES

Change

Diffuse Legitimation Strategy (towards the ruling elites and the opposition)

Hard Repression Strategy (towards the ruling elites and the opposition)

Formal Co-optation Strategy (towards the opposition parties)

Diffuse Legitimation Strategy (towards the opposition)

Hard Repression Strategy (towards the opposition)

Figure 1: Findings

(orange boxes refer to the partly confirmed hypothesis 4)

Conclusion

Why do some hybrid regimes change the combination of stability strategies? The research question has two dimensions: 1) Why is there a change per se? 2) Why is there a change through the introduction of a strategy towards a new combination? As mentioned in the discussion above, this study demonstrates that direct vertical and/or horizontal threats impact the combination of stability strategies substantially. The evidence derives from the longitudinal case study of Turkey.

The findings contribute to the literature on hybrid regimes and regime change in two ways. Firstly, it shows that vertical and/or horizontal threats are likely to impact the way hybrid regimes attempt to survive. Thus, the findings encourage scholars to go beyond examining whether which type of repression, co-optation, and legitimation strategies provide (more) less stability and consider the latter also as a dynamic result of the political conflict between incumbent and change seeking actors. In other words, in line with Schedler's (2013) uncertainty theory, findings suggest that autocrats take regime challenging threats seriously and direct their stability strategies accordingly. It also implies that the cases of "near misses" (Cappocia and Kelemen 2007, 352) for democratization, such as the Gezi protest in Turkey, could encourage autocrats to enhance stabilization strategies. Also, effects of the threats could be tested in other theories that emphasize domestic sources of authoritarian stability, such as the selectorate theory (de Mesquita et al. 2005).

Secondly, horizontal and vertical threats are likely to force incumbents to introduce different strategies. As the Turkish case shows, vertical threats in the form of mass protests and the horizontal threats from the ruling elite lead to the use of hard repression in the form of political imprisonment and diffuse legitimation through the rhetorical establishment of ideological conflict by the incumbent. Furthermore, the events between 2013-2019 suggest opposition unification encouraged the incumbent to create a formal co-optation with potential

challengers. Thus, the findings imply that students of regime change should pay attention to actor-oriented causalities (Gerschewski 2018, 11) to explain the authoritarian behavior, given that political contestation between opposition and incumbent, the ruling elite, and incumbent, and citizens and the incumbent lead to different outcomes. Therefore, without discounting structural factors such as global waves of political change (Gunitsky 2018) or the regime's organizational power (Levitsky and Way 2010 376-378), the findings urge us to deeply analyze the role of the domestic agents in triggering a change in the regime behavior.

This research has policy implications for both domestic and international actors in hybrid regimes. For internal opposition in hybrid regimes, the findings imply that they should avoid siding with horizontal challengers' illiberal-militant practices, like the Turkish opposition policies during the 2007-2012 period. Although previous research suggests that the dual game of democratic and autocratic politics in hybrid regimes encourages opposition parties to seek extra-institutional mechanisms for change (Levitsky and Way 2010, 29-30), the Turkish case highlights that it would be more beneficial to fight in the electoral-legal arena to do not activate aggressive behavior of the incumbent regime. For external democracy promoters such as the EU, the findings show that large scale regime challenging threats might trigger autocrats to adapt to the new environment and reinforce their survival. Thus, democracy promoters should be cautious in encouraging these movements to challenge the regime in the form of protests to ensure that these movements do not get suppressed by the regime. As Levitsky and Way (2010) suggest, one way to increase the cost for autocrats to repress these movements could be the direct installation of western linkage through direct civil society involvement and funds, in the respective countries, to increase these movements' capacity to overthrow the regime. Furthermore, the findings urge democracy promoters to capture the dynamic nature of authoritarian survival strategies that can adopt the new conditions and thwart challenges in three relational way. Therefore, one should not consider only repression but the other types of strategies of co-optation and legitimation in relation to each other.

Nonetheless, this study has limitations. Firstly, due to the interaction between the authoritarian institutionalization over time and the capability of using strategies, it is not uncomplicated to explain either the authoritarian institutionalization or the type of threat led the incumbency to rely on the specific strategies. Probably, both. However, since this study's focus is on threat and the introduction of a specific strategy to the combination, this discussion was intentionally undermined. Secondly, this study demonstrates that both vertical threat by the citizens and horizontal threat by the ruling elites lead to diffuse legitimation and hard repression strategies. The reason is methodologically related to Mill's method of difference. In this study, two different threats came in the same period (2007-2012), and two new strategies were added to the combination. Throughout the research, the relationship between two different threats and two different strategies has been explained. However, if future research compares the periods that these threats come separately, and perfectly apply Mill's method of difference, it contributes to the literature and this study. Thirdly, this study could not establish a hypothesis based on the relationship between the level of specific threats and the level of strategies, as it measures with binary variables. For example, the variance between the police's brutal reaction to the Gezi Movement and lack of police brutality in Republican Meetings might be explained with continuous or categorical variables. Further studies might analyze the relationship between the degree of the types of threat (vertical, horizontal by the ruling elite, horizontal by the opposition parties) and the degree/intensity of the strategies used by the incumbent. A contribution to the literature of hybrid regimes can also be made by examining threats and strategies as continuous or categorical variables. However, the first limitation mentioned above might also apply here.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Ağırdır, Bekir. 2007. "Sandığın İçindekini Ne Belirledi?," *Konda*. July 22, 2007. Accessed May 30, 2020. https://konda.com.tr/tr/rapor/2007-secimi-sandigin-icindekini-ne-belirledi/

Akbaş-Demirel, Cansu, Feride Aksu-Tanık, Nermin Biter, Aslı Davas, Lülüfer Körükmez, Hanifi Kurt, Güldem Özatağan, Zeynep Özen-Barkot, and Nilgün Toker-Kılınç. 2019. "Akademisyen İhraçları: Hak İhlalleri, Kayıplar ve Güçlenme Süreçleri." *Türkiye İnsan Hakları Vakfi Yayınları*, no. 127 (November): 226.

Akçay, Ümit. 2009. Para, Banka, Devlet: Merkez Bankası Bağımsızlaşmasının Ekonomi Politiği. Sosyal Araştırmalar Merkezi.

—. 2018. *Neoliberal Populism in Turkey and Its Crisis*. Berlin: Berlin School of Economics and Law, Institute for International Political Economy Berlin.

AKP 2011. "Seçim beyannamesi, Türkiye hazır, hedef 2023," Accessed July 10, 2020 http://www.akparti.org.tr/media/272799/secim-beyannamesi-2011.pdf

Akser, M., and B. Baybars-Hawks. 2012. Media and democracy in Turkey: Toward a model of neoliberal media autocracy. Middle East Journal of Culture and Communication 5: 302– 21.

Akdogan Yalcin. 2004. Ak Parti ve muhafazakar demokrasi. Cagaloglu, Istanbul: Alfa

Alas, Enver. 2013. "CHP'li milletvekilleri Gezi Parkı'nda," *Hürriyet*. March 30, 2013. https://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/chpli-milletvekilleri-gezi-parkinda-23398962

Avcı, Gamze. 2011. "The Nationalist Movement Party's Euroscepticism: Party Ideology Meets Strategy." *South European Society and Politics* 16 (3): 435–47.

Aydın-Düzgit, Senem. 2012. "No Crisis, No Change: The Third AKP Victory in the June 2011 Parliamentary Elections in Turkey." South European Society and Politics South European Society and Politics 17 (2): 329–46.

- —. 2016. "De-Europeanisation through Discourse: A Critical Discourse Analysis of AKP's Election Speeches." South European Society and Politics 21 (1): 45–58.
- Aytaç, S. Erdem, and Ezgi Elçi. 2019. "Populism in Turkey." In *Populism around the World*, 89–108. Springer.

Bashirov, Galib, and Caroline Lancaster. 2018. "End of Moderation: The Radicalization of AKP in Turkey." *Democratization* 25 (7): 1210–1230.

- Başkan, Filiz. 2010. "Religious versus Secular Groups in the Age of Globalisation in Turkey." *Totalitarian Movements and Political Religions* 11 (2): 167–83.
- Bayulgen, Oksan, Ekim Arbatli, and Sercan Canbolat. 2018. "Elite Survival Strategies and Authoritarian Reversal in Turkey." *Polity* 50 (3): 333–65

BBC Türkçe. 2019. "YSK: Abdullah Gül'ün hatırlattığı Anayasa Mahkemesi'nin 2007'deki '367 Kararı' neydi?," *BBC Türkçe*. May 7, 2019. https://www.bbc.com/turkce/haberler-turkiye-48189677

——. 2018. "Devlet Bahçeli: Türkiye'de son 16 yılda siyasete yön veren kararları," *BBC Türkçe*. June 25, 2018. <u>https://www.bbc.com/turkce/43799117</u>

Birgün. 2016. "Dokunulmazlıkların kaldırılması teklifi komisyondan geçti: Şimdi ne olacak?," *Birgün*. May 3, 2016. <u>https://bit.ly/3hkGoCV</u>

——. 2019. "HDP'den Kayyum Raporu," *Birgün*. November 11, 2019. https://bit.ly/3hh2Axw Birgün. 2019. "İBB'nin AKP döneminde 43 milyona verdiği ihale bu yıl 23 milyona gitti!," *Birgün*. December 12, 2019. https://bit.ly/2OERHJM

Boztürk, Batu. 2019. "Çiğdem Toker ile Yeni Kitabı "Kamu İhalelerinde Olağan İşler Üzerine" Söyleşi" *Medyascope*. November 28, 2019. https://medyascope.tv/2019/11/28/cigdem-toker-ile-yeni-kitabi-kamu-ihalelerinde-olaganisler-uzerine-soylesi/

- Bray, Laura A., Thomas E. Shriver, and Alison E. Adams. 2019. "Framing Authoritarian Legitimacy: Elite Cohesion in the Aftermath of Popular Rebellion." Social Movement Studies 18 (6): 682–701.
- Capoccia, Giovanni, and R. Daniel Kelemen. 2007. "The Study of Critical Junctures: Theory, Narrative, and Counterfactuals in Historical Institutionalism." *World Politics* 59 (3): 341–369.
- Castaldo. 2018. "Populism and competitive authoritarianism in Turkey." *Southeast European and Black Sea Studies* 18 (4): 467–87.
- Celep O. 2018. "The Moderation of Turkey's Kurdish Left: The Peoples' Democratic Party (HDP)." *Turk. Stud. Turkish Studies* 19 (5): 723–47.
- Ceran, Fatih. 2019. "From Paradigm Shift to Retooling: The Foundation and Maintenance of the AKP." *Southeast European and Black Sea Studies* 19 (1): 175–93.
- Chang, Eric, and Miriam A. Golden. 2010. "Sources of Corruption in Authoritarian Regimes". Social Science Quarterly. 91 (1): 1-20.
- Cinar, Kursat. 2016. "A Comparative Analysis of Clientelism in Greece, Spain, and Turkey: The Rural–Urban Divide." *Contemporary Politics* 22 (1): 77–94.

Comission of the European Communities. 2007. "Turkey 2007 Progress Report." European Comission. Accessed June 10, 2020.

https://www.ab.gov.tr/files/AB_Iliskileri/Tur_En_Realitons/Progress/turkey_progress_report_ 2007.pdf

Committee to Protect Journalists (CPJ). Nd. "Turkey's Press Freedom Crisis" Accessed June 20, 2020. https://cpj.org/reports/2012/10/turkeys-press-freedom-crisis-appendix-i-journalists-in-prison.php

Cosar, S, and A Ozman. 2004. "Centre-Right Politics in Turkey after the November 2002 General Election: Neo-Liberalism with a Muslim Face." *Contemporary Politics*. 10 (1): 57–74.

- ——. 2007. "State Repression and Political Order." *Annual Review of Political Science* 10 (1): 1–23.
- De Mesquita, Bruce Bueno, Alastair Smith, Randolph M. Siverson, and James D. Morrow. 2005. *The Logic of Political Survival*. Cambridge, Mass: MIT press.
- Dinçşahin, Şakir. 2012. "A Symptomatic Analysis of the Justice and Development Party's Populism in Turkey, 2007–2010." *Government and Opposition* 47 (4): 618–640.

Çevik, Senem B. 2019. "Turkish Historical Television Series: Public Broadcasting of Neo-Ottoman Illusions." *Southeast European and Black Sea Studies* 19 (2): 227–42.

CNNTürk. 2017. "Meral Akşener, Devlet Bahçeli'ye yüklendi," *CNNTürk*. July 11, 2017. https://www.cnnturk.com/turkiye/meral-aksener-devlet-bahceliye-yuklendi

Davenport, Christian. 2004. "The Promise of Democratic Pacification: An Empirical Assessment." *International Studies Quarterly* 48 (3): 539–560.

Dogan, Sevinc. 2017. Mahalledeki AKP: Parti Isleyisi, Taban Mobilizasyonu ve Siyasal Yabancilasma. Istanbul: Iletisim Yayinlari.

Donno, Daniela. 2013. "Elections and Democratization in Authoritarian Regimes." *American Journal of Political Science* 57 (3): 703–16.

Dorman, Sara Rich. 2006. "Post-Liberation Politics in Africa: Examining the Political Legacy of Struggle." *Third World Quarterly* 27 (6): 1085–1101.

Dukalskis, Alexander. 2017. The Authoritarian Public Sphere: Legitimation and AutocraticPowerinNorthKorea,Burma,andChina.https://brad.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://taylorfrancis.com/books/9781315455532

Dukalskis A, and Gerschewski J. 2017. "What Autocracies Say (and What Citizens Hear): Proposing Four Mechanisms of Autocratic Legitimation." *Contemporary Politics* 23 (3): 251–68.

Dukalskis, Alexander, and Christopher Patane. 2019. "Justifying Power: When Autocracies Talk about Themselves and Their Opponents." *Contemporary Politics* 25 (4): 457–478.

DW. 2007. "Ankara'da Cumhuriyet Mitingi" *DW*, April 14, 2007. https://www.dw.com/tr/ankarada-cumhuriyet-mitingi/a-2519437 (accessed June 20, 2020).

——. 2008. "AKP'ye kapatma davası açıldı" *DW*, March 14, 2008. https://www.dw.com/tr/akpye-kapatma-davas%C4%B1-a%C3%A7%C4%B1ld%C4%B1/a-3192923 (accessed June 20, 2020).

Easton, David. 1965. A Systems Analysis of Political Life. Chicago; London : University of Chicago Press.

Edel, Mirjam, and Maria Josua. 2018. "How Authoritarian Rulers Seek to Legitimize Repression: Framing Mass Killings in Egypt and Uzbekistan." *Democratization* 25 (5): 882–900.

Erem, Onur. 2019. "Gül, YSK kararını 2007'deki '367 Kararı'na benzetti: Yazık, bir arpa boyu yol alamamışız," *BBC*. May 7, 2019. https://www.bbc.com/turkce/live/haberler-turkiye-48184056

- Erensü, Sinan, and Ayça Alemdaroğlu. 2018. "Dialectics of Reform and Repression: Unpacking Turkey's Authoritarian 'Turn.'" *Rev. Middle East Stud. Review of Middle East Studies* 52 (1): 16–28.
- Ertuğrul, Kürşad, and Öznur Akcalı Yılmaz. 2018. "The Otherness of Turkey in European Integration." *Turkish Studies Turkish Studies* 19 (1): 48–71.
- Esen, Berk, and Sebnem Gumuscu. 2016. "Rising Competitive Authoritarianism in Turkey." *Third World Quarterly* 37 (9): 1581–1606.
 - —. 2019. "Killing Competitive Authoritarianism Softly: The 2019 Local Elections in Turkey." *South European Society and Politics* 24 (3): 317–42.

Escribà-Folch, Abel. 2013. "Accountable for What? Regime Types, Performance, and the Fate of Outgoing Dictators, 1946–2004." *Democratization* 20 (1): 160–85.

Evrensel. 2019. "KCK Davası Kumpas mı değil mi?,". *Evrensel*. July 24, 2019. https://www.evrensel.net/yazi/84412/kck-davasi-kumpas-mi-degil-mi

Feldmann, Magnus, and Honorata Mazepus. 2018. "State-Society Relations and the Sources of Support for the Putin Regime: Bridging Political Culture and Social Contract Theory." *East European Politics* 34 (1): 57–76.

Finkel, Evgeny, and Yitzhak M. Brudny. 2012. "No More Colour! Authoritarian Regimes and Colour Revolutions in Eurasia." *Democratization* 19 (1): 1–14.

Freedom House. "Freedom in the World: Turkey" Accessed June 10, 2020. https://freedomhouse.org/country/turkey/freedom-world/2020

- Gandhi, Jennifer, and Ellen Lust-Okar. 2009. "Elections Under Authoritarianism." *Annual Review of Political Science* 12: 403–22.
- Gandhi, Jennifer, and Adam Przeworski. 2006. "Cooperation, Cooptation, and Rebellion under Dictatorships." *Economics & Politics* 18 (1): 1–26.
 - ——. 2007. "Authoritarian Institutions and the Survival of Autocrats." *Comparative Political Studies* 40 (11): 1279–1301.
- Gandhi, Jennifer, and Ora John Reuter. 2013. "The Incentives for Pre-Electoral Coalitions in Non-Democratic Elections." *Democratization* 20 (1): 137–59.
- Geddes, Barbara. 1999. "What Do We Know about Democratization after Twenty Years?" Annual Review of Political Science 2 (1): 115–144.
- ———. 2004. "Authoritarian Breakdown." *Manuscript. Department of Political Science, UCLA*.
- Gerschewski, Johannes. 2013. "The Three Pillars of Stability: Legitimation, Repression, and Co-Optation in Autocratic Regimes." *Democratization* 20 (1): 13–38.
 - ———. 2018. "Legitimacy in Autocracies: Oxymoron or Essential Feature?" *Perspect. Polit. Perspectives on Politics* 16 (3): 652–65.
- "Global Populism Database, v1 Harvard Dataverse." n.d. Accessed July 2, 2020. https://dataverse.harvard.edu/dataset.xhtml?persistentId=doi:10.7910/DVN/LFTQEZ
- Gumuscu, Sebnem. 2013. "The Emerging Predominant Party System in Turkey." *Government and Opposition* 48 (2): 223–244.
- Gunitsky, Seva. 2018. "Democratic Waves in Historical Perspective." *Perspectives on Politics* 16 (3): 634–651.
- Günay, Cengiz, and Vedran Dzihic. 2016. "Decoding the Authoritarian Code: Exercising 'Legitimate'Power Politics through the Ruling Parties in Turkey, Macedonia and Serbia." *Southeast European and Black Sea Studies* 16 (4): 529–549.
- Güler, Arzu, and Cemal Alpgiray Bölücek. 2016. "Motives for reforms on civil-military relations in Turkey." *Turkish Studies* 17 (2): 251–71.
- Hale, H.E. 2011. "Formal Constitutions in Informal Politics: Institutions and Democratization in Post-Soviet Eurasia." *World Politics* 63 (4): 581–617.
- Houston, Christopher. 2018. "Plotters and Martyrs: The Justice and Development Party's (AKP) Constituting of Political Actors in the 15 July Coup Event." *Politics, Religion & Ideology* 19 (4): 531–45.
- Isaacs, Rico. 2010. "Informal Politics and the Uncertain Context of Transition: Revisiting Early Stage Non-Democratic Development in Kazakhstan." *Democratization* 17 (1): 1–25.
- IMF. n.d. "Turkey Country Data (2002-2019)." IMF. Accessed July 20, 2020. https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/TUR.
- Jiang, Junyan. 2018. "Making Bureaucracy Work: Patronage Networks, Performance Incentives, and Economic Development in China." *American Journal of Political Science* 62 (4): 982–99.

- Josua, Maria, and Mirjam Edel. 2015. "To Repress or Not to Repress—Regime Survival Strategies in the Arab Spring." *Terrorism and Political Violence Terrorism and Political Violence* 27 (2): 289–309.
- Josua, Maria. 2017. "Legitimation towards Whom?" Zeitschrift Für Vergleichende Politikwissenschaft 11 (2): 301–24.
- Kailitz, Steffen. 2013. "Classifying Political Regimes Revisited: Legitimation and Durability." *Democratization* 20 (1): 39–60.

Karahan. 2013. "Gezi Parkı Bilançosu: 4 Ölü 60'ı Ağır 7832 Yaralı," *Hürriyet*. June 21, 2013. https://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/gezi-parki-bilancosu-4-olu-60-i-agir-7832-yarali-23556728

Kars-Kaynar, Ayşegül. 2018. "Making of Military Tutelage in Turkey: The National Security Council in the 1961 and 1982 Constitutions." *Turkish Studies* 19 (3): 451–81.

- Kaya, Ayhan. 2015. "Islamisation of Turkey under the AKP Rule: Empowering Family, Faith and Charity." *South European Society and Politics* 20 (1): 47–69.
 - ——. 2016. "Europeanization of Civil Society in Turkey: Legacy of The# Occupygezi Movement." *Turkish Studies*.
 - —. 2017. "Right to the City: 145Insurgent Citizens of the Occupy Gezi Movement." In *Rethinking Ideology in the Age of Global Discontent*, 144–159. Routledge.
- Kesgin, Barış. 2020. "Turkey's Erdoğan: leadership style and foreign policy audiences." *Turkish Studies* 21 (1): 56–82.
- Keyman, E. Fuat, and Ziya Öniş. 2007. "Globalization and Social Democracy in the European Periphery: Paradoxes of the Turkish Experience." *Globalizations* 4 (2): 211–28.
- Kirişci, Kemal. 2011. "The Kurdish Issue in Turkey: Limits of European Union Reform." *South European Society and Politics* 16 (2): 335–49.
- Kneuer, Marianne. 2017. "Legitimation beyond Ideology: Authoritarian Regimes and the Construction of Missions." Zeitschrift Für Vergleichende Politikwissenschaft 11 (2): 181–211.
- Koesel, Karrie J., and Valerie J. Bunce. 2013. "Diffusion-Proofing: Russian and Chinese Responses to Waves of Popular Mobilizations against Authoritarian Rulers." *Perspectives on Politics*, 753–768.

- Accessed May 30, 2020. https://konda.com.tr/tr/rapor/24-haziran-sandik-ve-secmen-analizi/
- Kuru, Ahmet T., and Alfred Stepan. 2012. *Democracy, Islam, and Secularism in Turkey*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Levitsky, Steven, and Lucan A. Way. 2010. "Competitive Authoritarianism by Steven Levitsky." Cambridge Core. August 2010.
- Linz, Juan José. 2000. *Totalitarian and Authoritarian Regimes*. Boulder, Colo: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Lueders, Hans, and Aurel Croissant. 2014. "Wahlen, Strategien Autokratischer Herrschaftssicherung Und Das Überleben Autokratischer Regierungen." Zeitschrift Für Vergleichende Politikwissenschaft 8 (3–4): 329–355.
- Maerz, Seraphine F. 2020. "The Many Faces of Authoritarian Persistence: A Set-Theory Perspective on the Survival Strategies of Authoritarian Regimes." *Government and Opposition* 55 (1): 64–87.

Konda. 2018. "Temmuz'18 Barometresi Siyasal ve Toplumsal Araştırmalar Dizisi," July 2018.

March, Andrew F. 2003. "State Ideology and the Legitimation of Authoritarianism: The Case of Post-Soviet Uzbekistan 1." *Journal of Political Ideologies* 8 (2): 209–32.

Mardin, Şerif. 1973. "Center-Periphery Relations: A Key to Turkish Politics?" *Daedalus*, 169–190.

Mazepus, Honorata, Wouter Veenendaal, Anthea McCarthy-Jones, and Juan Manuel Trak Vásquez. 2016. "A Comparative Study of Legitimation Strategies in Hybrid Regimes." *Policy Studies* 37 (4): 350–369.

Mill, John S. 1874. A System of Logic, Ratiocinative and Inductive. New York: Harper & Brothers

Milliyet. 2008a. "AK Parti kapatılmasın kararı çıktı," *Milliyet*. July 30, 2008. https://www.milliyet.com.tr/siyaset/ak-parti-kapatilmasin-karari-cikti-972729

2008b. "Doğu Perinçek Cezaevine Gönderildi, Alemdaroğlu Serbest," *Milliyet*. March
 24, 2008. <u>https://www.milliyet.com.tr/gundem/dogu-perincek-cezaevine-gonderildi-alemdaroglu-serbest-508820</u>

———. 2016. "Cumhuriyet tarihinin en büyük operasyonu! Binlerce kişi...," *Milliyet*. July 20, 2016. https://www.milliyet.com.tr/ekonomi/cumhuriyet-tarihinin-en-buyuk-operasyonu-binlerce-kisi-2281048

Montinola, Gabriella R., and Robert W. Jackman. 2002. "Sources of Corruption: A Cross-Country Study". British Journal of Political Science. 32 (1): 147-17

Morgenbesser, Lee. 2015. "In Search of Stability: Electoral Legitimation under Authoritarianism in Myanmar." *European Journal of East Asian Studies* 14 (2): 163– 188.

Mudde, Cas. 2011. "Radical Right Parties in Europe: What, Who, Why?" *Participation* 35 (1): 12–15.

Mynet. 2015 "27 Nisan E-muhtirası Tam Metni" Accessed June 20, 2020. https://www.mynet.com/27-nisan-e-muhtirasi-tam-metni-110102212559

Nugent, Neill. 2007. "The EU's Response to Turkey's Membership Applications: Not Just a Weighing of Costs and Benefits." *Revue d'intégration Européenne Journal of European Integration* 29 (3): 481–502.

Özçelik, Burcu. 2011. *Carneige Endowment for International Peace: Middle East Analysis.* "What the HDP Success Means for Turkey," Accessed June 20, 2020.

https://carnegieendowment.org/sada/60370.

Özdemir, Yonca. 2020. "AKP's Neoliberal Populism and Contradictions of New Social Policies in Turkey." *Contemporary Politics* 0 (0): 1–23.

- Özsel, Dogancan, Armagan Öztürk, and Hilal Onur Ince. 2013. "A Decade of Erdoğan's JDP: Ruptures and Continuities." *Critique Critique* 41 (4): 551–70.
- Paksüt, Osman A. 2007. "Anayasa Mahkemesi Kararı." *T.C. Resmî Gazete*, June 27, 2007. https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2007/06/20070627-17.htm.

Pişkin, Tansu. 2020. "3 Vekil Tutuklandı: Dokunulmazlıkların Kaldırılması Süreci ve Sonrası," *Bianet*. July 5, 2020. <u>http://m.bianet.org/bianet/siyaset/225301-3-vekil-tutuklandi-dokunulmazliklarin-kaldirilmasi-sureci-ve-sonrasi</u>

Regan, Patrick M., and Errol A. Henderson. 2002. "Democracy, Threats and Political Repression in Developing Countries: Are Democracies Internally Less Violent?" *Third World Quarterly* 23 (1): 119–36. Reuter, Ora John, and David Szakonyi. 2019. "Elite Defection under Autocracy: Evidence from Russia." American Political Science Review 113 (2). Cambridge University Press: 552– 68.

Rohlfing, Ingo. 2012. *Case Studies and Causal Inference: An Integrative Framework*. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK

Ross, Michael L. 2001. "Does Oil Hinder Democracy?" World Politics, 325-361.

Saatçioğlu, Beken. 2014. "AKP's 'Europeanization' in Civilianization, Rule of Law and Fundamental Freedoms: The Primacy of Domestic Politics." *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies* 16 (1): 86–101

Sabah. 2013. "Başbakan Erdoğan Kazlıçeşme'de Konuştu," *Sabah*. June 16, 2013. https://www.sabah.com.tr/gundem/2013/06/16/basbakan-erdogan-kazlicesmede-konusuyor

Savut, Emre. 2020. "Geçmişten Bugüne Türkiye Siyasetinde Seçim İttifakları: Tercih Mi? Zorunluluk Mu?" *Pamukkale Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, no. 39 (April): 33–48.

Sayın, Ayşe. 2020. "Dokunulmazlıkların kaldırılmasından, milletvekilliklerinin düşürülmesine uzanan süreçte neler yaşandı?," *BBC*. July 5, 2020. https://www.bbc.com/turkce/haberler-dunya-52932483

Schedler, Andreas. 2002. "Elections without Democracy: The Menu of Manipulation." *Journal* of Democracy 13 (2): 36–50.

—. 2013. The Politics of Uncertainty. Oxford University Press. Schneider, Politikwissenschaft: Comparative Governance and Politics 11 (2): 213–35.

- Schmotz, Alexander. 2015. "Vulnerability and Compensation: Constructing an Index of Cooptation in Autocratic Regimes." *European Political Science* 14 (4): 439–57.
- Schneider, Carsten Q, and Seraphine F Maerz. 2017. "Legitimation, Cooptation, and Repression and the Survival of Electoral Autocracies." Z Vgl Polit Wiss Zeitschrift Für Vergleichende Politikwissenschaft : Comparative Governance and Politics 11 (2): 213– 35.
- Selçuk, Orçun. 2016. "Strong Presidents and Weak Institutions: Populism in Turkey, Venezuela and Ecuador." *Southeast European and Black Sea Studies* 16 (4): 571–589.
- Selvik, Kjetil. 2018. "Autocratic Legitimation in Iran: Ali Khamenei's Discourse on Regime 'Insiders' and 'Outsiders."" *Democratization* 25 (7): 1114–1131.
- Selznick, P. 1949. *TVA and the Grass Roots. A Study of Politics and Organization*, Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Shubladze, Rati, and Tsisana Khundadze. 2017. "Balancing the Three Pillars of Stability in Armenia and Georgia." *Caucasus Survey* 5 (3): 301–322.
- Somer M. 2019. "Turkey: The Slippery Slope from Reformist to Revolutionary Polarization and Democratic Breakdown." Ann. Am. Acad. Polit. Soc. Sci. Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 681 (1): 42–61.
- Söyler, Duygu. 2017. "Being A Dissident Journalist In Turkey: Old and New Challenges." MA thesis, Central European University, Department of Political Science.

Stacher, Joshua Alan. 2007. "Adapting authoritarianism: institutions and co-optation in Egypt and Syria." PhD diss., University of St. Andrews, School of International Relations.

Svolik, M.W. 2012. The Politics of Authoritarian Rule, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

T24. 2016. "Cumhuriyet tarihinin en büyük operasyonu; kamuda 49 bin 321 kişi görevden alındı," *T24*. July 19, 2016. https://t24.com.tr/haber/cumhuriyet-tarihinin-en-buyuk-operasyonu-kamuda-49-bin-321-kisi-gorevden-alindi,350825

- Taş, Hakkı. 2018. "A history of Turkey's AKP-Gülen conflict." *Mediterranean Politics* 23 (3): 395–402.
- Thyen, Kressen, and Johannes Gerschewski. 2018. "Legitimacy and Protest under Authoritarianism: Explaining Student Mobilization in Egypt and Morocco during the Arab Uprisings." *Democratization* 25 (1): 38–57.
- Toker, Çiğdem. 2019. Kamu ihalelerinde olağan işler. İstanbul Tekin Yayınevi.
- Transparency International. n.d. "Corruption Perceptions Index: Turkey." Transparency.Org. Accessed June 18, 2020. https://www.transparency.org/en/countries/turkey.
- Türk, H Bahadir. 2018. "'Populism as a medium of mass mobilization': The case of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan." *International Area Studies Review* 21 (2): 150–68.
- von Haldenwang, Christian. 2016. *Measuring Legitimacy New Trends, Old Shortcomings?* Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik.
- von Soest, Christian, and Julia Grauvogel. 2017. "Identity, Procedures and Performance: How Authoritarian Regimes Legitimize Their Rule." *Contemporary Politics Contemporary Politics* 23 (3): 287–305.
- Wilson, Kenneth. 2016. "How Increased Competition Can Strengthen Electoral Authoritarianism Party-System Pluralization in Russia." Problems of Post-Communism Problems of Post-Communism 63 (4): 199–209.
- Way, Lucan A., and Steven Levitsky. 2006. "The Dynamics of Autocratic Coercion after the Cold War." *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 39 (3): 387–410.
- Wodak, Ruth. 2015. The Politics of Fear: What Right-Wing Populist Discourses Mean. Los Angeles (etc.): Sage.
- Yardimci-Geyikçi, Şebnem. 2014. "Gezi Park Protests in Turkey: A Party Politics View." *The Political Quarterly* 85 (4): 445–53.
- Yavuz, M. Hakan. 2018. "A Framework for Understanding the Intra-Islamist Conflict Between the AK Party and the Gülen Movement." *Politics, Religion & Ideology Politics, Religion & Ideology* 19 (1): 11–32.
- Yavuz, M. Hakan, and Rasim Koç. 2016. "The Turkish Coup Attempt: The Gülen Movement vs. the State." *Middle East Policy Middle East Policy* 23 (4): 136–48.
- Yilmaz, Ihsan, Mehmet Efe Caman, and Galib Bashirov. 2020. "How an Islamist Party Managed to Legitimate Its Authoritarianization in the Eyes of the Secularist Opposition: The Case of Turkey." *Democratization* 27 (2): 265–282.
- Yıldız, Ahmet. 2003. "Politico-Religious Discourse of Political Islam in Turkey: The Parties of National Outlook." *The Muslim World* 93 (2): 187–209.
- Zavadskaya, Margarita, Max Grömping, and Ferran Martinez i Coma. 2017. "Electoral Sources of Authoritarian Resilience in Russia: Varieties of Electoral Malpractice, 2007–2016." Demokratizatsiya: The Journal of Post-Soviet Democratization 25 (4): 455–80.